

### Crawford School of Public Policy Centre for Climate Economics and Policy

# Prospects for a "just transition" away from coal-fired power generation in Australia: Learning from the closure of the Hazelwood Power Station

### CCEP Working Paper 1708 November 2017

#### **Professor John Wiseman**

Melbourne Sustainable Society Institute, University of Melbourne, jwiseman@unimelb.edu.au.

#### **Stephanie Campbell**

Melbourne Sustainable Society Institute, University of Melbourne, <a href="mailto:stephanie.campbell1@unimelb.edu.au">stephanie.campbell1@unimelb.edu.au</a>.

#### **Fergus Green**

London School of Economics and Political Science; Australian National University, <a href="mailto:r.f.green@lse.ac.uk">r.f.green@lse.ac.uk</a>

#### **Abstract**

Until its relatively sudden closure in March 2017, the Hazelwood Power Station in Victoria's Latrobe Valley was the most carbon-intensive electricity generator in Australia. It became a symbol of Australia's reliance on coal and an electoral battleground in the bitter political struggles over climate policy that have raged since the mid-2000s. The announcement by Hazelwood's owners, French multinational power company, Engie, in late 2016 that it would be closing the plant for commercial reasons, therefore came as somewhat of a shock. We argue that Australia's political and economic institutions help to explain the autonomous decision of Engie to close the plant, the short notice period, and the lack of pre-closure government transition policy. These institutions discourage long-term policymaking and encourage a disproportionate amount of vote-seeking activity directed at marginal electorates. Straightforward "vote-seeking" is however too simplistic an explanation of the transition policies announced at the time of the Hazelwood closure. Of particular relevance is the fact that, over the last few years, the transition away from coal and towards renewable energy has become a virtual inevitability in the Australian energy sector. One important outcome of this trend has been the shift in position of the Australian union movement towards advocacy for "just transition" policies, bringing it both closer to—and, in some cases, in alliance with—environmental groups.

| THE AUSTRALIAN NATIONAL UNIVERSITY

Absent institutional reform, the most likely means by which coal closures could move closer to "best practice" in Australia is through action by unions and environmental groups to mobilise institutional investors to pressure energy companies to adopt more worker- and community-friendly, "just transition" policies. The most plausible institutional reform path, given Australia's existing political-economic institutions, would involve the direct regulation of companies' transition obligations. Yet, the more interventionist the regulatory change, the greater the costs imposed on existing generators and the more politically contentious the reforms are likely to be. In this difficult policymaking environment, an important variable is likely to be the agency of civil society actors in making the politics of energy/climate policymaking more conducive to just transition-oriented regulatory reforms. Our case study has demonstrated that the positions of key civil society stakeholders in Australia's energy debate, including unions, environment groups and to some extent business groups have been converging toward a "just"—or at least an orderly—transition as a dominant political narrative for substantive policies to improve the transition arrangements in the Australian energy sector. Strengthening and perhaps formalising these alliances will improve the incentives for political parties to invest in long-term policies in the energy sector.

#### **Key words:**

Australia, coal transitions, just transitions, regional policy, energy policy

#### JEL codes:

O38 and R11

#### **Suggested citation:**

Wiseman, J., Campbell, S. & Green, F. (2017), Prospects for a "just transition" away from coal-fired power generation in Australia: Learning from the closure of the Hazelwood Power Station, CCEP Working Paper 1708, November 2017. Crawford School of Public Policy, Australian National University.

#### **Address for Correspondence:**

Professor John Wiseman Melbourne Sustainable Society Institute University of Melbourne Victoria 3010 Australia jwiseman@unimelb.edu.au

The Crawford School of Public Policy is the Australian National University's public policy school, serving and influencing Australia, Asia and the Pacific through advanced policy research, graduate and executive education, and policy impact.

The Centre for Climate Economics & Policy is an organized research unit at the Crawford School of Public Policy, The Australian National University. The working paper series is intended to facilitate academic and policy discussion, and the views expressed in working papers are those of the authors. Contact for the Centre: Dr Frank Jotzo, <a href="mailto:frank.jotzo@anu.edu.au">frank.jotzo@anu.edu.au</a>





## **International Coal Transition Research Project Working Paper**

Prospects for a "just transition" away from coal-fired power generation in Australia: Learning from the closure of the Hazelwood Power Station

Authors: Professor John Wiseman<sup>1</sup>, Stephanie Campbell<sup>2</sup>, Fergus Green<sup>3</sup>

This version of 21 November 2017 includes minor changes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Melbourne Sustainable Society Institute, University of Melbourne

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Melbourne Sustainable Society Institute, University of Melbourne

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> London School of Economics and Political Science; Australian National University

#### The Coal Transitions Project

The Australian Coal Transitions Project is the Australian component of the international research project: Coal Transitions: Research and Dialogue on the Future of Coal. This collaborative project brings together researchers from six major coal producing nations (China, India, Germany, South Africa, Poland and Australia) to explore trajectories and policy options with the potential to facilitate well managed and equitable economic transitions away from coal.<sup>4</sup>

The international Coal Transitions project is led by IDDRI (Paris) and Climate Strategies (London). The Australian component is led by the Australian National University's Crawford School of Public Policy, in collaboration with the University of Melbourne's Melbourne Sustainable Society Institute. <sup>5</sup>

#### About the Authors<sup>6</sup>

John Wiseman is Deputy Director of the Melbourne Sustainable Society Institute and Adjunct Professor at the Melbourne School of Global and Population Health, University of Melbourne.

Stephanie Campbell coordinates MSSI's Climate Transformations Research Cluster and is a member of the Australian research team for the international Coal Transitions Project

Fergus Green is a PhD candidate in the Department of Government at the London School of Economics & Political Science and an Associate of the Melbourne Sustainable Society Institute, University of Melbourne.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <a href="https://coaltransitions.org/">https://coaltransitions.org/</a> The international Coal Transitions project is led by Climate Strategies <a href="http://climatestrategies.org/">http://climatestrategies.org/</a> and The Institute for Sustainable Development and International Relations (<a href="http://www.iddri.org/">http://www.iddri.org/</a>)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> https://ccep.crawford.anu.edu.au/ccep-research/coal-transition; http://sustainable.unimelb.edu.au/coal-transitions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> We would also like to acknowledge our appreciation for advice and feedback received from the following individuals: Nick Aberle and Victoria McKenzie-McHarg (Environment Victoria), Wendy Farmer and Ron Ipsen (Voices of the Valley), Karen Cain (Latrobe Valley Authority) Peter Colley (CFMEU), Lance McCallum (ACTU), Lars Coenen (University of Melbourne) | THE AUSTRALIAN NATIONAL UNIVERSITY

#### **Table of Contents**

| Executive Summary   | 6  |
|---|----|
| 1. Introduction   | 9  |
| 2. Case study: the rise and fall of the Hazelwood Power Station                               | 11 |
| 2.1 <u>Historical context</u>   | 11 |
| Development of coal mining and electricity generation in the Latrobe Valley                   | 11 |
| Privatisation of the electricity generation sector  | 13 |
| 2.2 The long shadow of carbon pricing: 2007–13  | 14 |
| 2.3 Hazelwood's demise and government responses: 2014–2017                                    | 16 |
| The 2014 Hazelwood mine fire  | 16 |
| The closure of the Hazelwood power station  | 18 |
| Responses from state and federal governments  | 19 |
| 2.4 Impact on key actors and stakeholders   | 21 |
| 3. Explaining the Hazelwood closure and government responses                                  | 27 |
| 3.1 Australia's economic and political institutions: conditioning actors' strategic responses | 28 |
| 3.2 The Victorian Labor Government response   | 31 |
| 3.3 The federal Coalition Government response   | 33 |
| 4. <u>Conclusion</u>  | 34 |
| References  | 38 |

#### **Executive Summary**

Until its relatively sudden closure in March 2017, the Hazelwood Power Station in Victoria's Latrobe Valley was the most carbon-intensive electricity generator in Australia. It became a symbol of Australia's reliance on coal and an electoral battleground in the bitter political struggles over climate policy that have raged since the mid-2000s. The federal Parliament enacted a national carbon price in 2011 (following two previous failed attempts to do so, in 2009), which cast a cloud over the future of the Valley's power generation industry. The accompanying transitional assistance package provided generous support to Victorian's brown coal-fired power generators, yet offered minimal transitional support for affected workers and the wider Latrobe community. Meanwhile, the state Labor government in Victoria campaigned on a pledge to close down Hazelwood during the 2010 state election campaign. Both policies were opposed by the Liberal-National coalition. When both federal and state Labor governments lost office in 2013 and 2014 respectively, the federal carbon price was repealed and the state plans to close Hazelwood were rejected. Hazelwood survived.

Yet the iconic power station remained mired in public controversy. When the Hazelwood coal mine caught fire in February 2014, the fire blazed for 45 days and covered the nearby town of Morwell in toxic smoke, precipitating two independent inquiries and renewed calls for the closure of the plant. Yet still no state (or federal) policies with that aim or effect were forthcoming.

At a national level, Australian climate change and energy policy since 2014 has been marked by stasis, uncertainty and conflict, creating significant policy risk for investments in the sector at a time when the National Electricity Market is facing unprecedented challenges from the rapid growth in renewables and the imperative to retire older, coal-fired power stations. Amid the policy stasis, there have been growing calls from civil society for policies that would induce a planned and orderly closure of coal-fired power generation. These have been accompanied by the emergence of a labour union-led and environment movement-backed narrative of "just transition" to a low-/zero-carbon future, the broad object of which is to secure fair transitional support for workers and communities entangled in high-carbon sectors of the economy that need to be phased down as Australia decarbonizes its economy. Unsurprisingly, Hazelwood has loomed large in these discussions about coal closure policy and just transition. Yet, still, no federal or state policy has seriously engaged with the issue of coal closure or energy system transformation.

The announcement by Hazelwood's owners, French multinational power company, Engie, in late 2016 that it would be closing the plant for commercial reasons, therefore came as somewhat of a shock. Perhaps even more surprising was that, following the commercially-originated closure, both the federal Coalition government and the state Labour government came forward with extensive transitional assistance packages for affected workers and the Latrobe Valley community. The Victorian government's assistance package is even more generous than had been offered by the previous Victorian and federal Labor governments to accompany their own proposed or enacted climate policies affecting the region. In fact, it is the largest regional development package ever announced by a Victorian government (Baxendale, 2016; ABC, 2016e).

What explains these recent policy outcomes — which can be conceived as a case of conspicuous "non-policy" followed by a sudden rush of "transition policy"?

We argue that Australia's political and economic institutions help to explain the autonomous decision of Engie to close the plant, the short notice period, and the lack of pre-closure government transition policy in this case.

The Victorian energy generation sector, privatised in the 1990s, is dominated by large (mostly foreignowned, multinational) corporations that operate within competitive markets and are highly responsive to the demands of their shareholders. Moreover, Australia generally and the Victorian energy sector specifically lacks coordinating (or "corporatist") political-economic institutions that draw firms (employer associations), workers (unions) and governments together to strike the kind of sector-level bargains that are recommended in "best practice" approaches to transition planning. Australia's formal political institutions, moreover, lead to frequent, highly-competitive, polarised, two-party dominated contests at federal and state levels with considerable jurisdictional overlap. These institutions discourage long-term policymaking (e.g. ambitious/stringent climate policy; transition planning) and encourage a disproportionate amount of vote-seeking activity directed at marginal electorates.

Notwithstanding these political institutional constraints, the 2007–2013 period involved considerable experimentation with (somewhat) stringent climate policies at both federal and state levels. Yet the widely-documented political casualties of this era have strongly conditioned Australia's major parties to be much more cautious in their climate and energy policies in the post-2013 period that we focus on in this study. We argue, in particular, that the marginality of the Victorian state seat of Morwell, in the heart of the Latrobe Valley, goes a significant way to explaining the policy outcomes of this period (currently held by the National party by a mere 1.8% margin, Morwell is the 6<sup>th</sup> most marginal seat in Victoria). Electoral pressures, we argue, both (i) discouraged the introduction or proposal of stringent climate change, coal closure or energy transition policies that would have conspicuously increased the probability of Hazelwood's closure; and (ii) encouraged the kind of large transition policy packages that were announced by the Victorian and federal governments following the exogenous decision to close Hazelwood.

Yet straightforward "vote-seeking" is too simplistic an explanation of the announced transition policy packages. Contextual shifts in material conditions, dominant ideas and the policy preferences of influential elites are likely also to have influenced the transition packages announced. Of relevance to the Victorian state Labor government's position is the fact that, over the last few years, the transition away from coal and towards renewable energy has become a virtual inevitability in the Australian energy sector, with the important result that the Australian union movement has shifted its position to advocating for "just transition" policies, bringing it both closer to—and, in some cases, in alliance with—environmental groups. Both the overall tenor of the state government transition package and some of its specific initiatives were clearly informed by the advocacy of these groups.

Meanwhile, at federal level, the business community has pressured the government for clear climate and energy policy, exposing the sharp divisions and policy indecision within the governing Liberal-National coalition. In this context, the federal government's transition policy response to the Hazelwood closure can perhaps best be understood as a reactive measure to buy the government some credibility in public debates over the Hazelwood closure in Victoria.

What can we learn from this analysis for future energy sector transitions?

One implication of our analysis is that, absent institutional reform, the most likely means by which plant closure could move closer to "best practice" in Australia is through the operation of *market* pressures. For example, Australian unions and environmental groups could attempt to mobilise relevant institutional investors (i.e. those who hold stocks in companies that own Australian, especially Victorian, coal-fired power stations) to pressure such companies to adopt more worker- and community-friendly, "just transition"-style policies for managing the closure of their assets. In other Australian states where governments still own stakes in coal-fired power stations, governments and unions may be able to press more directly for better transition planning, without needing to rely on third party institutional investors.

But unless and until private energy companies are pushed by their shareholders to adopt such "best practice" with regard to mine/plant closure and just transition strategies, institutional reforms will be necessary to alter the incentives companies face. The most plausible institutional reform path, given Australia's existing political-economic institutions, would involve the direct regulation of companies' transition obligations. Energy generators already face legal obligations with respect to plant closure, decommissioning and rehabilitation. State governments could strengthen these existing laws/regulations (for example, with respect to closure notice periods, workforce transition planning, and stakeholder consultation processes). Alternatively, entirely new mechanisms could be enacted by state or federal governments to provide incentives for an orderly phase out of emissions-intensive facilities such as coal-fired power generators.

Yet, the more interventionist the regulatory change, the greater the costs imposed on existing generators and the more politically contentious the reforms are likely to be—and this tension is indeed one of the very reasons that energy/climate-policymaking of this more interventionist variety has been so conspicuously absent in the 2014–17 period that we have analysed.

This leads us to our final observation: in this difficult policymaking environment, an important variable is likely to be the agency of civil society actors in making the *politics* of energy/climate policymaking more conducive to just transition-oriented regulatory reforms. Our case study has demonstrated that the positions of key civil society stakeholders in Australia's energy debate, including unions, environment groups and to some extent business groups have been converging toward a "just"—or at least an orderly—transition as a rhetorical heuristic for substantive policies to improve the transition arrangements in the Australian energy sector. Strengthening and perhaps formalising these alliances will improve the incentives for political parties to invest in long-term policies in the energy sector.

Australia's mix of political and economic institutions, stakeholders, cultural norms and climate/energy policy "legacies" is unique. One therefore must be careful in generalising these findings and applying these "lessons" to other countries. That said, our analysis is likely to be of significant relevance to countries with similar constellations of political and economic institutions, namely the liberal-market economies of the US, Canada and the UK. The first two of these also share with Australia a federal system of government and a political economy marked by the presence of large fossil fuel industries, which potentially increases the comparability of these countries to Australia when it comes to energy, climate and transition policies.

#### 1. Introduction

Reducing the risks of global climate change is now widely recognised as one of the great ecological, social and economic challenges of our time. The 2015 Paris Climate Agreement, signed by 195 countries, includes objectives that imply the need to achieve a phase out of net greenhouse gas emissions by the second half of this century. Reducing greenhouse gas emissions at that speed and scale will require a rapid and fundamental transition away from fossil fuel-based energy systems (Stern 2015b)—with the phase out of coal an especially urgent priority. This transition is also being driven by a rapid increase in the capabilities and competitiveness of renewable energy technologies and related innovations in energy systems and storage technologies (Bloomberg New Energy Finance 2017; REN 21 2017).

This transition promises widespread gains in prosperity for most people (quite aside from the value of mitigating climate change) (Fay et al. 2015; GCEC 2014; Green 2015; Stern 2015b). Yet it also threatens disproportionate costs and losses for some — and in many cases for those who can least afford to incur them (Büchs, Bardsley, and Duwe 2011; Green 2015; Healy 2017; Hills 2012; Newell and Mulvaney 2013; Rosemberg 2010; Swilling and Annecke 2012; Swilling, Musango, and Wakeford 2015). With researchers, policymakers and other stakeholders paying increasing attention to these potential costs and losses, and the transition policies ("just" or otherwise) to ameliorate them (e.g. Caldecott, Sartor, and Spencer 2017), there is a need for theoretically-informed empirical research on the political economy of transitions (Stern 2015a) and of "transition policies" (Green 2017). Without an understanding of the political-economic variables likely to affect transitions and transition policies, "best practice" transition management strategies are likely to gain little traction in all but the most propitious political-economic contexts. By systematically understanding these political-economic variables, stakeholders and policymakers can better tailor their interventions to influence transition outcomes.

This paper aims to contribute to this important research agenda by providing a detailed case study of the closure of Australia's most carbon-intensive installation, the brown coal-fired Hazelwood Power Station (and its co-located lignite mine) and of the federal and Victorian state government transition policy responses to this nationally significant event.

To explain the closure and the government responses, they must be interpreted in the light of a longer "episode" in the Latrobe Valley's history dating from roughly 2007—the period in which the prospect of substantial climate change mitigation policy and (more broadly) low-carbon transition have been central features of the federal, state and local political economy in which the Valley is situated.

The politics of the earlier phase of this episode (2007–2013)—spanning the climate policies of the Rudd and Gillard federal governments and up to the repeal of the carbon pricing scheme by the Abbott coalition government—has been extensively discussed in the academic literature, with a number of

<sup>.</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Paris Agreement includes the objective to "strengthen the global response to the threat of climate change ... by: Holding the increase in global temperature to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels and to pursue efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels..." (art. 2(1)(a)). Moreover: "In order to achieve the long-term temperature goal set out in Article 2, Parties aim to reach global peaking of greenhouse gas emissions as soon as possible ... and to undertake rapid reductions thereafter in accordance with best available science, so as to achieve a balance between anthropogenic emissions by sources and removals by sinks of greenhouse gases in the second half of this century" (art. 4.1). The latter article has been widely interpreted implying "net-zero" emissions must be achieved within the second half of this century.

works explicitly considering the Latrobe Valley region's role (Chubb 2014; Jones 2014; Snell 2011; Snell and Schmitt 2012; Weller 2012; Weller, Sheehan, and Tomaney 2011; Weller and Tierney 2017), and some analysing the relevant transition policies of this era in detail (Green 2011; Menezes, Quiggin, and Wagner 2009; Wood and Edis 2011).

To our knowledge, however, the more recent part of this episode, from the beginning of 2014, has not been analysed in detail in the academic literature. This period includes the Hazelwood mine fire (February–March 2014), the November 2014 Victorian state election, the energy and climate policy of the Turnbull-led coalition Government (September 2015 onwards), the closure of the Hazelwood power station (announced 1 November 2016, effective 31 March 2017), and the state and federal government transition policy responses to Hazelwood's closure. Accordingly, our descriptive section (Part 2) focuses primarily on the events of this period (Part 2.3) and the actors involved (Part 2.4), albeit set against the historical backdrop of the Valley's industrial development (Part 2.1) and the carbon price wars of 2007–13 (Part 2.2). Evidence informing the descriptive elements of the case study has primarily been drawn from a desktop review of relevant academic and grey literature as well as media commentary.

In choosing appropriate frameworks to analyse the case study, we note the growing scholarly consensus that understanding energy and sustainability transitions requires multiple analytical perspectives (Boschma et al. 2017; Cherp et al. 2017; Geels, Berkhout, and van Vuuren 2016; Lauber and Jacobsson 2016; Scoones, Leach, and Newell 2015; Turnheim et al. 2015). Cherp et al. (2017) have argued that the relative power of alternative theories to explain energy transition outcomes even within a single country varies from historical "episode" to "episode" (see also Geels, Berkhout, and van Vuuren 2016). Accordingly, researchers should be wary of attempting to apply a singular, grand theory; rather, "a good theory of contemporary energy transitions is likely to be an assembly of 'micrologics' of its specific constituent elements combined with an understanding of the applicability of such logics to specific situations and their relationships to each other" (Cherp et al. 2017, 625).

In that spirit, we have chosen an approach to our explanatory analysis (Part 3) that proceeds in two steps. We first discuss the *institutional* context that conditioned the responses of the various agents (Part 3.1). In this analysis, we draw primarily from the historical institutionalist traditions of political science and political economy (see, e.g., Thelen 1999). In the second step (Part 3.2–3.3), we examine more closely the preferences, actions, and interactions of *agents* in the political process during our period of concern to provide more proximate, micro-level explanations of the relevant outcomes. To do so, we draw primarily on the (qualitative) rational choice tradition within political science and political economy, but we emphasise that these agents' objectives, strategies and tactics have been heavily conditioned by the *ideational* legacies of the preceding carbon price wars of 2007–2013.<sup>8</sup>

Our analysis speaks overwhelmingly to the challenges of instituting a more planned, orderly and "just" transition away from coal-fired power generation in Australia. However, it also illuminates some potential opportunities. We conclude, in Part 4, by discussing some implications of our analysis for the avenues by which actors seeking such responses could advance their cause.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In this, we heed Thelen's advice concerning the combination of rational choice and historical/sociological variants of political institutionalism: "Rather than a full-fledged synthesis, we might instead strive for creative combinations that recognize and attempt to harness the strengths of each approach" (Thelen, 1999: 380).

Our analysis is likely to be of most interest to an Australian and international audience of researchers, policymakers and other stakeholders engaged in debates over energy, low-carbon, sustainability and regional *transitions*, and climate, energy, regional and transition *policy*. In drafting the paper with these diverse audiences in mind, we have erred on the side of additional detail. Some readers are likely to be particularly interested in the details of the Latrobe Valley case, in which case Part 2 is likely to be of primary interest. Scholars of transitions and policy who are more interested in the explanatory analysis and its implications may wish to skim Part 2 and focus their attention on Parts 3 and 4.

#### 2. Case study: the rise and fall of the Hazelwood Power Station

#### 2.1 Historical context

Development of coal mining and electricity generation in the Latrobe Valley

The Latrobe Valley is located in the state of Victoria, approximately 150 kilometres east of the state capital, Melbourne, in a region called Gippsland. The Latrobe Valley is approximately 1,422 km² in size, and includes Latrobe City, one of the four major regional centres in Victoria with a population of approximately 74,000, and four major towns — Morwell, Moe-Newborough, Traralgon and Churchill (Remplan & Latrobe City Council, 2017). The Latrobe Valley is situated on one of the world's largest brown coal reserves (Geoscience Australia, 2016). The Latrobe Valley coal reserves primarily consist of lignite, a soft brown coal that has a low carbon content and high moisture content. This means that more carbon dioxide emissions are emitted per unit of energy produced compared with the black coal that is mined (for domestic use and export) in Queensland and New South Wales (EIA, 2017). It also means that Victoria's brown coal is difficult to transport and is therefore not exported. The Valley's lignite reserves, which are mined from three open-cut mines (Yallourn, Hazelwood and Loy Yang), are used almost entirely for electricity generation for domestic use, with the Latrobe Valley supplying approximately 90% of Victoria's electricity needs (Latrobe City Council, 2016).

#### **Box 1: Australian coal reserves**

Australia had the fifth largest recoverable economic coal reserves in the world in 2015, consisting of both black and brown coal (Geoscience Australia, 2016). 60% of Australia's demonstrated resources of black coal are located in Queensland and 37% in New South Wales (*Ibid.*) A large share of this black coal is exported, predominantly to Asian markets, with Australia ranking as the world's largest coal exporter by volume; constituting 30% of global coal trade in 2015; and generating an export value of approximately \$34 billion in 2015-16 (OCE, 2016). Approximately 44,000 people were directly employed by the coal industry in 2015-16 although coal industry employment represents less than 1% of the Australian workforce (OCE, 2016). Australia's recoverable brown coal reserve is the second largest in the world, and 93% of it is located in the Latrobe Valley (Tomaney & Somerville, 2010).

Discovery of brown coal in the Latrobe Valley was first recorded in 1873, with mining taking place from 1887 (Heritage Council of Victoria, 2008). A Royal Commission into coal use in 1889 confirmed the government's interest in development of the state's brown coal resources, which ultimately led to a model of centralised, government-controlled electricity generation and supply in Victoria (*Ibid.*) In 1920, the Victorian Government established the State Electricity Management Commission (SECV) with the mandate to manage Victorian electricity generation and supply, and develop the Latrobe Valley's brown coal reserves (*Ibid.*) Between 1920 and 1996, coalmining and power generation

operations in the Valley were greatly expanded, with the addition of two further open-cut mines and four further power stations (Hazelwood, Yallourn W, Loy Yang A and Loy Yang B). With this development came additional regional economic growth, employment, and population.

Situated next to the town of Morwell, excavation of the Morwell Open Cut Mine (later Hazelwood mine) began in 1955. Coal from the mine was initially supplied to Yallourn power station, until Hazelwood power station was commissioned. Hazelwood's eight generating units became operational between 1964 and 1971 (*Ibid.*) When it began operation, it was the SECV's intention that Hazelwood Power Station would operate for approximately 30 years (Colebatch, 2017).

The development of the Valley's power industry, its central role in the state's energy security strategy, and the political-economic model that predominated in the industry up until privatisation (described in the next section), is summarised by Weller et al. (2011: 21):

From the outset, the industry developed as a part of the state's essential services infrastructure and operated as a public service. The Valley's energy sector grew with the State and its industrial production. Electricity prices were set by the government in response to cost and political considerations. The communities in the Latrobe Valley were established as company townships set up by the [SECV] to house its then predominantly migrant workforce. Most of the housing in Yallourn, for example, was owned by the SECV and leased to its workforce.

By the mid-1970s, the SECV had developed into a vertically and horizontally integrated government-owned authority that employed over 9,000 people — almost a third of the Valley's labour force The SECV adopted a typically 'Fordist' organisational form characterised by a robust internal labour market with its own training, promotion and recruitment priorities and "a paternalistic, social welfarist approach to employment organisation and practice" Employment was secure and power industry workers could reliably expect to keep their jobs for their working lifetime. The energy workforce was highly unionised, in what was essentially a 'closed shop' arrangement involving more than 20 different union. The Gippsland Trades and Labour Council played a crucial role in coordinating the various unions and resolving differences among them.

By 1981, mining and electricity generation in the Valley employed a largely male workforce of over 10,000 employees (Eklund, 2017). In addition, ancillary industries had developed in the manufacturing and services sectors throughout the 1970s (Cameron & Gibson, 2005). The region was prosperous and enjoyed periods of rapid economic growth and full employment (Weller et al., 2011; Fairbrother & Testi, 2002).

The socio-economic resilience of the region during this period is illustrated by its ability to manage a challenging transition for the residents of Yallourn. Having built the town of Yallourn to house up to 5,000 employees of the adjacent Yallourn power station, the SECV decided to close the town in 1969 in order to access the coal reserves discovered underneath the town site (Eklund, 2017). This closure process began in 1985 and concluded between 1995 and 2000, affecting around 4,000 residents, constituting a significant relocation exercise even by global standards at the time (Wadley & Ballock, 1980). While residents formed a movement with union support to protest against the relocation and "Save Yallourn", the decision ultimately went ahead. A key justification for this decision was the SECV's charter to provide electricity at the lowest cost possible consistent with other objectives — highlighting the historical tension between the interests of the workers and residents of the Valley on the one hand and the imperative for a cheap, secure energy supply for Victoria (*Ibid.*). However, as

Wadley & Ballock (1980) note, the SECV's Yallourn relocation process were quite positive despite these conflicts, with a lengthy notification period for residents and a strong commitment to maintenance of employment opportunities.

#### Privatisation of the electricity generation sector

During the 1980s and 1990s, Australia transitioned from a highly protected to a relatively open economy, with Coalition and Labour governments at both state and national levels committed to tariff reduction, corporatisation, privatisation and other microeconomic reforms. Weller et al. (2011) cite the Industry Commission's 1991 electricity industry review as an expression of this trend, as it recommended the divestment of the state's generation and distribution assets and the establishment of a national electricity market. By this time, Victoria's generation capacity was significantly oversupplied, and prices were above efficient levels (Simshauser, 2005). By the end of the 1980s, up to 45% of the SECV's annual earnings were going towards paying its debt (HMFIR, 2016c).

In 1994, the Victorian government announced that the SECV would be disaggregated and the Hazelwood power station privatised (Cameron & Gibson, 2005). The SECV was converted into an entity called Generation Victoria in 1995, which was later separated into five state-owned businesses, one of which was Hazelwood Power Corporation (Engie, 2017c). In 1996, the Victorian government sold Hazelwood Power Corporation for \$2.35 billion, to Hazelwood Power Partnership — a private consortium led by the British firm National Power — which took over the operations of the Morwell Open Cut mine and Hazelwood Power Station (Engie, 2017c; Heritage Council of Victoria, 2008).

Though hailed by some as a microeconomic success story (Simshauser, 2005)<sup>9</sup>, the process of privatisation had an enormous and lasting adverse impact on the Latrobe Valley region. These impacts began even before the disaggregation and sale of the SECV, as reforms were implemented by state Labor governments in the 1980s to improve productivity and raise the sale price of the plant assets prior to privatisation. These reforms included a reduction in direct employment, an increase in the proportion of contract work and a voluntary redundancy programme (Voluntary Departure Package). One consequence of these measures was a shift in workforce demographics as an unexpectedly large number of younger workers took up the Voluntary Departure Package payout on offer and left the region altogether, leading to a sharp reduction in local house values (Barfoot & Zaghlool, 2017; Weller et al., 2011).

By the end of the privatisation process, approximately 8,000 workers had lost their jobs and the Valley had become the most disadvantaged region in Victoria, with full-time employment in the region falling by 9% between 1994 and 2001 and a large increase in outward migration from the region occurring as job-seekers searched for alternative work (Tomaney & Somerville, 2010; Giurco et al., 2011; Weller et al., 2011). Between 1991 and 1999, the number of residents receiving unemployment benefits increased by 78.2% (Rainnie et al., 2013). These developments led to an increasingly negative media portrayal of the Latrobe Valley and a feeling by some members of the community of being "let down by the government" (Rainnie et al. 2013: 39). The privatisation also left a legacy of distrust in

13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Recent analysis by The Australia Institute has also provided evidence that productivity of the electricity supply industry as a whole has actually fallen considerably under privatisation with a significant expansion in the employment of marketing staff and middle managers (Richardson, 2017).

government which has strongly conditioned the reactions of the workforce and community to current debates about the future of coal mining and power production (*Ibid.*).

The privatisation process of the 1990s was followed by the development of an extensive series of government plans and policy statements aiming to re-position the Valley and decrease regional dependence on the electricity and resources sectors. 10 However, despite some diversification (into the community services and retail sectors in particular), these initiatives have had limited success and the regional economy has remained dominated by the electricity generation sector, leaving it highly vulnerable to power station closures (Weller et al., 2011). Cameron & Gibson (2005) note that the dominant economic development approach by the Latrobe City Council and state government has been to attempt to attract alternative large-scale industries such as call centres, food processing, magnesium smelters and industry parks. The limitation of such approaches is epitomised in the attempt to attract National Foods, which opened a dairy processing plant in the Valley in 1996–97 and received approximately \$1.5 million in government incentives. While 700 new jobs were promised, only 120 jobs eventuated, many of which were in fact filled by inter-state transfers from other plant closures (*Ibid*.). Having said that, Weller (2012: 1267) argues that diversification strategies in the 2000s were partially successful at inducing growth in "population-related services (health, welfare, education and retailing), forestry and the timber products sector. State government offices, a government call centre, a university campus and multiple state and federally funded community and social development services have supported this new path."

#### 2.2 The long shadow of carbon pricing: 2007–13

Though climate change had been a subject of policy interest for many years, it was not until the 2007 federal election that major policies to reduce greenhouse gas emissions were central to national and Victorian political debate. The ratification of the Kyoto Protocol and the introduction of a national, economy-wide greenhouse gas emissions trading scheme were key election commitments of the Rudd Labor government elected in 2007.

The Latrobe Valley's economic dependence on emissions-intensive coal mining and power generation industries makes the region particularly vulnerable to the adoption of greenhouse gas emissions reduction policies. The Latrobe Valley was identified in the Garnaut (2008) National Climate Change Review as the region that would be most acutely affected by the adoption of a price on carbon (as it would be by other emissions reduction policy options such as 'payment for closure' schemes and renewable energy subsidies: Ward & Power, 2015).

Initially, the reception of the Rudd Government's carbon pricing plans in the Valley was mixed. On the one hand, the now-privately-owned power corporations ran a ruthless public campaign against the carbon pricing plan, both stoking and playing into local fears about yet further job losses and economic disadvantage in the Valley (and also playing to wider Victorian fears about electricity price rises and energy insecurity) (Chubb, 2014, chap. 2; Snell, 2011: 155). It is however important to remember that by this time more than three-quarters of the industry's peak workforce had already been lost, due mainly to the privatisation process. The solidaristic social relations in the industry that existed in the

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> These include the Latrobe Valley Ministerial Taskforce, established by the Victorian Government in 2000; The Latrobe Economic Development Strategy 2004-2008; Latrobe 2021 – The Vision for Latrobe Valley, by the Latrobe City Council; and The Latrobe Valley Industry and Employment Roadmap in 2012 by the Victorian Government.

SECV era had also been largely dismantled by the privatisation process and its effects, leaving many remaining unions and workers distrustful of the (mostly foreign-owned) multinationals that now owned the power stations and sceptical of their scare campaigns (Chubb, 2014: 64–65). Some in the community felt that a wider low-carbon transition was inevitable and could provide an opportunity for regional regeneration, especially if carbon pricing policy was accompanied by transitional assistance involving supportive regional investments (Chubb, 2014: 65–66). In this context, there were opportunities for the government to forge alliances and win over at least some sections of the Valley community, if only they had engaged (Chubb 2014, 27–30, 62–67).<sup>11</sup>

However, as the complex bureaucratic and turbulent parliamentary processes associated with the development of the Rudd Government's carbon price wore on, sentiment in the Valley solidified against the Government. In a poorly conceived strategy, the Rudd Government sought to pacify the scare campaigns of the generators by offering the industry increasingly generous—and poorly justified—financial assistance totalling billions of dollars (Chubb, 2014, chap. 2; Green, 2011). Meanwhile, the Government refused to discuss the regional impacts of carbon pricing or to engage with stakeholders in strongly-affected regions such as the Latrobe Valley (Chubb, 2014: 23–31). The Rudd Government's final carbon pricing package would have provided \$9–12.5 billion (in aggregate) worth of free carbon permits to the generators (Macintosh et al. 2010: 208) and minimal regional assistance to affected workers and their communities.

Ultimately, Rudd's scheme was voted down twice in the senate and was abandoned by the Government soon after the unsuccessful Copenhagen climate conference in December 2009. The Scheme's abandonment triggered a dramatic loss of confidence in the Rudd Government and set in motion a series of political events that culminated in the elevation of Julia Gillard to the Labor leadership and hence Prime-Ministership (Chubb, 2014: 84–120). Seeking to put the troubled legacy of carbon pricing politics behind her government, during the 2010 election campaign Prime Minister Gillard infamously promised that she would not introduce a carbon tax. But the political realities of needing the support of the Greens and numerous independents to form a minority Government after the 2010 election led to the establishment of a cross-party committee (which the coalition did not join) to design a carbon pricing mechanism, effectively reversing the "no carbon tax" promise in the eyes of the public (Chubb 2014, chap. 6).

At the same time, the Hazelwood Power Station's smokestacks had become a potent symbol of climate policy failure that was being used by environmental groups to mobilise public support for its closure (Chubb 2014, 37–38; Lesman, Macreadie, and Gardiner 2011, 6). With federal climate policy in disarray, the Victorian state Labor Government — which was also facing an election in 2010 (on 27 November) and a strong challenge by the Greens in the longstanding Labor-held seat of Melbourne — committed to a Climate Change Action Plan that included using state funds to purchase the phased closure of Hazelwood power station (Lesman et al., 2011: 6). Hazelwood's closure, and environmental policy more generally, was an issue on which the Liberal-National opposition coalition sought to

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> One prominent vision for the Valley's future at this time, which did receive some government support, was for what might be called a "lower-carbon coal future", centred on new "clean coal" technologies that, many hoped, would enable the continuation of brown coalmining and power generation in a more carbon–constrained regulatory context. A centrepiece of this vision was the development of Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS) capabilities in the region, which were supported by state and federal governments (Giurco et al., 2011). A \$10 million CCS pilot project was, for example, established in Hazelwood in 2009, but only captured 25 tonnes of CO2 per day — just 0.05% of the station's emissions (Hickson, 2009: 66).

differentiate itself by opposing Hazelwood's closure in the interest of protecting local jobs (Lesman et al., 2011: 12). The Labor government was surprisingly defeated at the 2010 election by a narrow margin, suffering a state-wide swing against it of 6.8% (primary vote) (Lesman et al., 2011: 22). In the Latrobe Valley heartland seat of Morwell — which had been lost to the National Party's Russel Northe in the 2006 state election after being held by Labor for the preceding 36 years — Labor suffered a massive 12.1% (primary vote) swing against it (ABC 2010). An internal Labor Party review of the 2010 election campaign concluded that the policy of closing Hazelwood was a key contributing factor in the Morwell result (Griffin, 2011: 65).

But while the incoming Liberal-National coalition government in Victoria had no intention of closing Hazelwood or introducing significant climate policy (Snell, 2011: 152), in mid-2011 the federal committee established by the Gillard government announced its climate change plans. These included a new federal carbon pricing mechanism as well as a "contract for closure" programme that would use federal funds to purchase the closure of coal-fired generating units, alongside \$5.5 billion (in aggregate) worth of cash and free carbon permits for coal-fired generators (Chubb, 2014: 204-9; Green, 2011: 478-83). The Gillard Government's transitional assistance package initially included a \$200 million "regional structural adjustment fund", some of which would have inevitably made its way to the Valley. This did little to quell popular resentment of the scheme in the Valley, which by this stage was considerable, but it raised hopes among the few groups in the Valley that remained committed to regional diversification away from coal and had sought government assistance for projects in that vein (Chubb, 2014: 209, 224–27). However, it subsequently became clear that this regional funding was in fact tied to the implementation of the "contract for closure" program, which was axed before any contracts were signed. Ultimately, only \$15 million was made available for regional diversification projects, dashing what little hope remained in the Valley for a forward-looking diversification plan (Chubb, 2014: 234-39).

The carbon pricing mechanism would enter into law in 2011 and begin operating on 1 July 2012. However in September 2013 the Labor Government was soundly defeated at a federal election by the Tony Abbott-led coalition, whose central campaign promise was to "axe the [carbon] tax" (Chubb, 2014: chaps. 10–11). As one of its first acts in office, the Abbott Government secured repeal of the carbon pricing mechanism, effective 1 July 2014—after just two years of the scheme's operation. With staunchly pro-coal and anti-climate action coalition governments in power at both federal and state level, by late 2013 there appeared little near-term prospect of new climate policy or of another significant power station or mine closure in the Valley.

#### 2.3 Hazelwood's demise and government responses: 2014–2017

#### The 2014 Hazelwood mine fire

In February 2014, the Hazelwood coal mine caught fire as a result of embers from nearby bushfires. The mine fire burnt for 45 days and covered the nearby town of Morwell with acrid smoke and ash before emergency services were able to extinguish it (HMFI, 2014). Over 7,000 emergency services personnel, in addition to hundreds of Hazelwood employees and contractors, were involved in fighting the fire (HMFI, 2014). The 2014 Inquiry into the impact of the mine fire noted that 'from 9 February 2014 until 25 March 2014, the local community was overwhelmed by smoke and ash from the Hazelwood mine fire. People were affected in many ways. Smoke and ash produced by the Hazelwood mine fire resulted in a number of distressing adverse health effects for Morwell residents, some of

whom may continue to be affected into the future. Many people and local businesses have also experienced financial impacts for a range of reasons.' (HMFI 2014, 22. See also EJA 2014)

Residents of Morwell were not immediately evacuated, and the health warning for Morwell South residents was not upgraded to advise vulnerable residents to leave temporarily until almost a month after the fire had commenced (ABC, 2014). Many residents were frustrated by the limited information provided regarding health risks, particularly given the uncertainty over medium and long-term health impacts (ABC, 2014).

Following the fire, the (Liberal-National) Victorian Government appointed an independent Inquiry which found that information about the impacts of the fire provided to the community was too late, contradictory and poorly explained and that inconsistent protocols were employed (including where carbon monoxide levels were deemed unsafe for firefighters but not for the community) (HMFI, 2014). The Inquiry also found that GDF Suez, the operator of the mine, was ill-prepared for the fire; had insufficiently identified risks to Morwell and the surrounding community and had failed to adopt adequate risk control measures (*Ibid.*)

There was, however, significant dissatisfaction amongst the Latrobe Valley community with the outcome of this initial inquiry. In response to the fire some members of the community formed an advocacy group (*Disaster in the Valley*, later re-named *Voices of the Valley*), which presented new data to the Inquiry, the Coroner, the Minister for Health and the Opposition Labor Party. Analysis of this data by an independent statistician concluded that there was an 80% probability that death rates in the areas closest to the mine fire over the relevant two-month period were higher than average (EJA & Voices of the Valley, 2015: 3). The Department of Health's conclusion that these deaths were within normal variation was in turn disputed by the second Hazelwood mine fire Inquiry (discussed below) (*Ibid.*: 4).

In the November 2014 state election, the coalition government was defeated by Labor. Labor's election platform, though containing numerous policy commitments pertaining to climate change, renewable energy and regional development, contained no policy commitments to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from coal, or concerning the direct closure of Hazelwood. In light of discontent about the Government's perceived delayed response to the health concerns of residents living with the consequences of the mine fire, it was expected that National Party MP (and by then, government minister) Russell Northe would face a challenge to retain the seat of Morwell (Lesman and Darby 2015, 32). In the event, Northe survived an 11.5% swing against him (based on new electoral boundaries) to retain the seat by a margin of 1.8% (ABC, 2014). However, the swing turned Morwell into the sixth most marginal seat in the state and the third most marginal seat not held by Labor (Victorian Electoral Commission, 2014).

Following the change of government, the newly elected Labor Government re-opened the Hazelwood mine fire Inquiry in May 2015 (DPC, 2016). The Inquiry's expanded terms of reference included investigating whether the fire had contributed to an increase in deaths, potential measures to improve the community's health, mine rehabilitation and bond options (DPC, 2016). Evidence presented to the Inquiry noted that the Latrobe Valley has relatively poor health outcomes on several indicators and

has one of the highest levels of particulate matter pollution<sup>12</sup> in Australia (EJA, 2014; Environment Victoria, 2017b; HMFI, 2016a). Similarly, former electricity sector workers from the Valley have been found to contract mesothelioma at a rate seven times the national average (Lee et al., 2009).

The re-opened Inquiry found (while noting the difficulty of attributing specific deaths to specific causes) that smoke from the mine fire was likely to have contributed to deaths in the community, sparking discussion of potential class action proceedings (HMFI, 2016a; Kinsella, 2015; ABC, 2016c). The Inquiry made a number of recommendations to the Victorian government, including the strengthening of rehabilitation bonds and the establishment of a designated Latrobe Valley Health Zone (HMFI, 2016b). In February 2016, Worksafe Victoria charged GDF Suez (now Engie) with 10 alleged breaches of workplace safety, including a failure to prevent the community being exposed to risk (ABC, 2016c). In March 2016, the Environment Protection Authority also indicated that it would be initiating legal action against the owners of the Hazelwood mine.<sup>13</sup>

#### The closure of the Hazelwood power station

Prior to its closure in 2017, Hazelwood was one of the oldest coal-fired power stations in Australia, with its oldest units aged 52 years and its newest, 42 years (Colebatch, 2017). Given its high emissions intensity, Hazelwood was widely known as "Australia's dirtiest power station", responsible for an estimated 16 million tonnes of CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent pollution per year (Jotzo & Mazouz, 2015; EV, 2017; ACF, 2016). Ward & Power (2015) estimated that the true social short-run marginal cost (SRMC) of Hazelwood, taking into account the external costs of carbon emissions and air pollutants, was more than 20 times the private SRMC that the station actually faced, imposing an estimated external cost of \$900 million per annum. While the SECV had planned for Hazelwood to be retired in 2005, the station had been privatised by the time this deadline arrived and the Victorian Labour government authorised an extension of operations until 2030 (Fyfe & Tomazin, 2005). This included approval for an extension of the mine (requiring the removal of 16 homes), on the condition that the power station was upgraded to become more efficient and meet a tightened pollution cap (*Ibid.*). Several changes in branding and share ownership of Hazelwood Power Partnership have occurred since privatisation, with the majority owners since 2012 being French multinational Engie (formerly GDF Suez) holding a 72% share, and Japanese multinational Mitsui the remaining 28% (Engie, 2017b).

In April 2016, the Victorian government announced an increase in coal royalties from 7.6 cents to 22.8 cents per gigajoule of energy. This brought the Victorian coal royalty rate (which had not been increased in ten years) into line with coal royalty rates in other Australian coal producing states (ABC, 2016f).

In May 2016, the global CEO of Engie reported to a French Senate committee that it was assessing a number of possible actions regarding Hazelwood, including sale and closure of the mine (De Clercq, 2016). This statement increased speculation regarding an anticipated closure announcement. 'Engie continued to maintain however that no formal decision had been made, with Engie asset manager, George Graham advising a June 2016 Latrobe Valley public meeting that 'I can categorically say that there is no decision to close Hazelwood.' (Galetta, 2016; ABC, 2016a; ABC, 2016b). On 28 October

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> One of the most common sources of air pollution dangerous to humans that is caused by coal-burning for electricity generation, amongst other sources (Environmental Justice Australia, 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See <a href="http://www.abc.net.au/news/2016-03-15/epa-to-charge-hazelwood-owner-over-coal-mine-fire/7246706">http://www.abc.net.au/news/2016-03-15/epa-to-charge-hazelwood-owner-over-coal-mine-fire/7246706</a>

2016 Commonwealth Energy Minister, Josh Frydenberg reconfirmed his understanding that no closure decision had been made (Wright, 2016; ABC, 2016b). However, on 3 November 2016, Engie announced that it had indeed decided to close the power station permanently on 31 March, 2017 (Engie, 2016). This announcement provided only 5 months' notice for workers and the community.

Engie consistently emphasised that the decision to close Hazelwood was made on a purely commercial basis noting, in particular, the increasingly large costs required to ensure continued safe and viable operation (Engie, 2016). Given the age of the Hazelwood power station, Victoria's work safety body required upgrades and repairs to 5 of its 8 boilers in order to meet health and safety standards, at a cost estimated by Engie of \$400 million (Borschmann, 2017; Andersen, 2017). The response from Engie management included the view that "given current and forecast market conditions, that level of investment cannot be justified" (Engie, 2016). In the period leading up to the closure there were a number of last-minute calls for the government to intervene and for options to keep Hazelwood open to be investigated. Engie responded that these suggestions were too costly and too late to be feasible (Andersen, 2017). Engie also confirmed (to a Senate Committee hearing) that it received no expressions of interests from other firms to buy Hazelwood (Colebatch, 2017).

The Hazelwood power station stopped producing electricity on 29 March, 2017. Engie has estimated that the cost of rehabilitation of the site will be \$439 million for the mine site and \$304 million for the power station—and that it would take one year to decommission, three years to demolish, and 30 years until the site is returned to the Victorian government (Andersen, 2017). Engie also announced that up to 250 workers would remain working at the power station and mine to rehabilitate the sites between 2017 and 2023, involving 130 Engie employees and 110-130 contractors in 2017—18 and an unconfirmed number of employees and subcontractors from 2019 (Engie, 2016). Engie announced at the same time as the Hazelwood closure that it planned to appoint a financial advisor to put Loy Yang B forward for sale (*Ibid.*) In contrast to the rationale given for closing Hazelwood, the CEO of Engie Australia cited the company's global strategic decision to withdraw from all coal-fired power stations and invest in renewable energy as the reason for the proposed sale of Loy Yang B (Borschmann, 2017).

#### Responses from state and federal governments

On the 3<sup>rd</sup> November, the day of the closure announcement, the Federal Government announced it would provide a \$43 million package to assist workers affected by Hazelwood's closure (Department of Environment and Energy, 2016). This included \$20 million to support local infrastructure, a \$3 million labour market structural adjustment package — including re-training, active job-seeking assistance and other support — and \$20 million as part of a *Regional Jobs and Investment Package*, focused on local job creation, diversifying the regional economy and building a highly-skilled workforce via projects determined by community input (Gordon & Preiss, 2016; Department of Environment and Energy, 2016).

The Victorian Labor Government responded to the Hazelwood closure by announcing the largest regional assistance package in Victoria's history (Baxendale, 2016; ABC, 2016e). The initiatives announced are described in Box 2. On the day of the closure announcement, the Victorian

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> In May 2016, prior to the closure announcement, the Victorian Government committed \$40 million in its state budget to a Latrobe Valley Economic Development Program to assist the region to transition from coal-fired electricity generation (Regional Development Victoria, 2017).

Government announced \$22 million in assistance for workers in the Latrobe Valley region and the establishment of the Latrobe Valley Authority to lead work on economic transition strategies (Box 2, items 1 and 2). The day after the closure announcement, Victorian Premier Daniel Andrews announced an additional \$224 million of funding aimed at promoting economic growth, business investment and job creation in the wider Valley community (Box 2, item 3), bringing the Victorian Government's total support package to \$266 million (Baxendale, 2016; ABC, 2016e; Andrews, 2016a).

Subsequently, the Victorian Government announced additional funding for a range of infrastructure-related projects in the region aimed at meeting sustainability, social equity and community well-being objectives (Box 2, items 4–8), as well as two additional schemes to support coal/electricity sector workers in the Valley who had lost their jobs (Box 2, items 9 and 10). The Government has also announced a number of institutional innovations to improve state government capacity in relation to the Valley. These included a Cabinet taskforce to develop an economic growth plan for the Valley (Priess & Morton, 2016), the Latrobe Valley Authority (Box 2, item 2) and a new GovHub complex in the region (Box 2, item 11).

#### Box 2: Initial Victorian government Latrobe Valley transition policy initiatives<sup>15</sup>

- 1. \$22 million in support services for affected workers, including financial and emotional counselling, education and training programs; support in identifying new business opportunities; the establishment of a Worker Transition Centre (in partnership with the Gippsland Trades and Labour Council) and an expansion of the Back to Work program that assists business in the Valley (Andrews, 2016a).
- 2. \$20 million to fund the establishment of a new Latrobe Valley Authority (LVA) to lead work on economic transition strategies (*Ibid.*)
- 3. Establishment of an Economic Growth Zone, including the local government areas of Latrobe City Council, Baw Baw Shire and Wellington Shire (Andrews, 2016b). This package consisted of two major components a \$50 million Economic Growth Zone to encourage businesses to re-locate to the Valley via financial incentives such as stamp duty concessions and fee reimbursements to be administered by the LVA, and \$174 million for a Community Infrastructure & Investment Fund to finance local infrastructure projects (Andrews, 2016b; Gordon & Priess, 2016).
- 4. **Energy efficiency upgrades**: \$5 million has funded energy efficiency upgrades to 1,000 homes of low-income and vulnerable Valley residents (ABC, 2016e).
- 5. **Morwell Hi-Tech Precinct**: \$17 million was allocated to the development of an innovation precinct in Morwell through collaboration between Federation University, Federation Training, Morwell Tech School, the Victorian Government and Fujitsu (Andrews, 2016c). The precinct is intended to focus on the energy, food and fibre, health and professional services industries, and expected to create 80 jobs in its construction and hundreds of full-time hi-tech jobs in the future (*Ibid.*).
- 6. **Redundancy scheme**: \$20 million was allocated to a scheme to encourage older workers from the remaining operational power stations to take redundancy packages, thus providing opportunities for younger Hazelwood employees (Anderson, 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> This is not a comprehensive list of all programs and projects initiated under the Victorian Government's announcements.

- 7. **New Energy Jobs & Investment Prospectus**: \$500,000 and 1 full-time-equivalent employee over 2 years to develop tools to encourage investment in small, medium and large scale renewable energy projects including an investment prospectus for large scale renewable energy projects outlining local workforce, resource and infrastructure availability, and support for local business owners to assess potential savings from solar system installation (Victorian Government, 2017).
- **8. Gippsland Line Upgrade**: In addition to the package, a \$345 million upgrade to the Gippsland Rail Line is being undertaken, creating a project office located in the Valley and an expected 400 jobs (Noonan, 2017b).
- 9. **Worker Transfer Scheme**: A \$20 million Latrobe Valley Worker Transfer Scheme (described in Part 2.4, below) was established via an agreement between labour unions, the Victorian government and electricity generators, announced on the 10<sup>th</sup> May, 2017.
- 10. **Public housing upgrade**: \$7.8 million will be invested in the upgrade of 224 public housing properties, creating 80 construction jobs and including the use of more efficient building supplies and utilities to reduce energy bills for tenants and overall environmental impact (LVA, 2017).
- 11. **GovHub complex**: the construction of a new GovHub office complex in Morwell is scheduled to begin in 2018 and to be completed in 2020, creating 100 jobs (Noonan, 2017a). Once completed, the site is expected to be a base for up to 300 staff, including 150 public sector jobs with positions advertised in the 12 months from the announcement to enable local job-seekers to apply (*Ibid*.) The site will serve as the head office for the Earth Resources Regulation staff responsible for mine rehabilitation and regulation (*Ibid*.)

#### 2.4 Impact on key actors and stakeholders

We now outline the positions and actions of some of the key stakeholders impacted by the Hazelwood closure. Drawing on the conceptual framework developed by Green (2017), we consider here the stakeholders most affected by a structural change and therefore most likely to make "transition claims"—claims on state and government resources to avoid or reduce losses associated with a structural change—and/or be implicated in transition policy. In addition, we discuss the role of the environment movement in light of its contributions to the debate over transition, even though it is not directly affected by the closure. This descriptive analysis of stakeholders in the transition provides the basis for analysing the political economy of transition in Part 3.

#### Hazelwood workers and their unions

The direct impact on the lives and livelihood of power station employees and their families is a highly significant outcome of the closure of a major power station such as Hazelwood. At the time of the closure announcement, Hazelwood directly employed 750 workers — 450 employees and 300 contractors, and in the 2016 financial year, Engie reported payments to employees of approximately \$36 million (Engie, 2017b; Engie, 2017c: 11). The average tenure of Hazelwood workers was 25 years, with an average age of 52 (Cowan, 2017). While the workforce of the Latrobe Valley has a lower level of tertiary-educated employees than Victoria's average, it has a greater number of employees with vocational qualifications, and many workers have developed industry-specific skills on the job despite

a lack of formal qualifications (Giurco et al., 2011). The characteristics of the Hazelwood workforce present significant challenges for transitioning to well-paying jobs with similar standing, quality and location, given the older demographic and specific (and sometimes informal) skill sets.

In addition to the obvious consequences for employment and financial security, the experience of redundancy typically also involves significant psychological and social impacts for workers and their families (Brand, 2015). A key aspect of many Hazelwood workers' experience has been a feeling of lost identity (Langmaid, 2017a). Many workers have spent their whole careers at Hazelwood, with generations of their family also having worked in the electricity sector in similar roles (Cowan 2017). The psychological impact on workers of the station's closure adds to the long-standing stress caused by chronic uncertainty over Hazelwood's future as well as the more pressing uncertainty created during the five months following the closure announcement (Langmaid, 2017a).

Support for a proactive and planned approach to climate change mitigation has been a longstanding and shared view of the trade union movement. The Australian Council of Trade Unions (ACTU) adopted a *Policy on the Greenhouse Effect* in 1991. The union most engaged in the coal sector is the Construction, Forestry, Mining & Energy Union (CFMEU), whose Mining & Energy Division (M&E) represents members who are overwhelmingly employed in the coalmining and power generation sectors. M&E has actively engaged in climate change policy developments since the early 1990s. The CFMEU has been a long-time supporter of market-based climate mitigation policies and worked to educate its members about the importance of carbon pricing. During the political struggles over carbon pricing of the Rudd-Gillard era, this position created tensions between the Union's executive and many of its members employed in the Latrobe Valley's power stations, who had significant concerns about their job security (Chubb 2014, 64–66; Snell 2011, 158). During this period, M&E's main strategy for securing the continued viability of coalmining and coal-fired power generation — and hence the jobs of its members — was to lobby federal and state governments for policy and funding for the research, development, demonstration and deployment of various "clean coal" technologies, in particular "carbon capture and storage" (CCS) (Snell, 2011: 157).

Australian (and international) CCS initiatives have, however, experienced significant cost blow-outs, and delays with many projects having been abandoned, resulting in increasing doubts about prospects for these technologies (Kuch, 2017; Marshall, 2016). At the same time renewable energy technologies continue to experience strong cost reductions, global coal demand has stagnated, numerous Australian coal-fired power generators have closed, and, Australian power generation companies have broadly accepted the inevitability of the decline of coal-fired power generation in Australia. In this context, M&E's position has shifted toward a "just transition" narrative, with a focus on ensuring that plant and mine closures occur in a planned manner and that initiatives are in place to support the redeployment and retraining of workers, along with wider regional investment and employment initiatives (CFMEU, 2017).

In this respect, the CFMEU / M&E has engaged and aligned with the wider Australian trade union movement's criticism of the lack of a clear transition plan for Hazelwood workers and emphasised the need for an orderly phase-out, a longer notice period, and proactive economic development and structural adjustment strategies. The 2016 ACTU policy paper, *Sharing the challenges and* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The employees of Hazelwood are represented by several unions, including the CFMEU; the Electrical Trades Union (ETU); and the Australian Manufacturing Workers' Union (AMWU).

opportunities of a clean energy economy: A Just Transition for coal-fired electricity sector workers and communities, proposed: a national, federally-coordinated plan; a mechanism for the orderly retirement of power stations; and the establishment of an independent statutory *Energy Transition Authority* to coordinate industry-wide job pooling and redeployment schemes, pre-closure re-training, early retirement access, and structural adjustment planning and support.

The union movement's focus on a "just transition" narrative has also facilitated a more cooperative relationship with the environment movement. In 2016 the ACTU co-published a paper with the Australian Conservation Foundation (ACF) presenting modelling demonstrating that more jobs would be created under a scenario of strong action towards clean energy and energy efficiency, compared with a business as usual or "medium action" scenario. The joint statement by the ACTU and ACF announcing this report noted "too often Australians are told they must choose between jobs or cutting pollution ... this report shows, this is a false and destructive choice for Australians." (ACF & ACTU, 2016).

The union movement has focused much of its Latrobe Valley advocacy work on securing a multiemployer redeployment pool, with a coalition between the Gippsland Trades and Labour Council, the CFMEU, ETU, Professionals Australia and AMWU pitching the idea to the Victorian Government in September 2016 following ongoing speculation about Hazelwood's closure (Plummer et al., 2016). This advocacy work was successful, with the announcement on the 10<sup>th</sup> March 2017 of a Latrobe Valley Worker Transfer Scheme, brokered by the Victorian Government, for 150 former Hazelwood workers (ACTU, 2017b). Energy Australia, AGL and Engie all joined the scheme, with the first redeployed worker from Hazelwood beginning work on the 1<sup>st</sup> May 2017 (ACTU, 2017a).<sup>17</sup> In response to the announcement of the Worker Transfer Scheme, the CFMEU gave credit to the Victorian Labor Government, noting that "the State Government has filled the Federal Government's leadership vacuum and come up with a workable plan for the Latrobe Valley" (CFMEU, 2017).

The local community — including households and businesses 18

The closure of Hazelwood has also had significant impacts on the broader Latrobe Valley community — including on local labour markets, businesses, government and other community service providers. The closure of Hazelwood is likely to have had some positive health outcomes resulting from the reduction in pollutants and improved air quality. As Jotzo and Mazouz (2015) note, it is also likely that the profitability of the remaining coal fired power generators in the Latrobe Valley will have increased as a result of Hazelwood's exit due to higher wholesale electricity prices. Negative impacts from the closure, in addition to the job losses noted above, are likely to include reduced business income as well as increased pressure on community service and health providers (Weller et al., 2011).

In the 2016 financial year, Engie reported payments to employees of approximately \$36 million and payments to suppliers of approximately \$38 million, representing substantial gross regional product that would be spent in the community (Engie, 2017c: 11). In fact, Weller et al. (2011) found that almost

<sup>18</sup> The local community is here defined as all members of the Latrobe Valley community in their capacity as residents, workers/job-seekers, consumers and citizens, as well as local businesses (excluding the owners/operators of Hazelwood), local community organisations and the local government.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> There were in fact ultimately three separate agreements, one for each company. The ACTU and CFMEU remained critical that each company sought significant "trade-offs" and continued to emphasise the importance of establishing an Energy Transition Authority with the power to co-ordinate and compel company participation on fair terms.

one in three of the higher-paid jobs in the region were those in the electricity sector and associated industries, and that every job in this sector could sustain up to four additional jobs in the service and retail industries. A 2016 report by the Committee for Gippsland cited modelling by GHD which claimed that the loss of 1,400 jobs from the forecast closure of power stations across the Gippsland region would result in the loss of an additional 1,771 jobs (CfG, 2016). 19 The Hazelwood closure also has the potential to exacerbate existing labour market and income inequalities, noting that the regional unemployment rate was already 11.2% at the time of the closure (Plummer et al., 2016; Lazarro, 2017b). It is also important to note the higher proportion of women in the region working in more insecure and lower-wage sectors including retail, community services and tourism, compared to the male-dominated, higher-paid electricity sector (Lazarro, 2017b; Weller et al., 2011). Levels of disadvantage within the Latrobe Valley region are often highlighted by the relatively high proportion of people receiving income security benefits and Healthcare cards. However, the individuals and families whose income is slightly above the eligibility threshold for Healthcare cards are also a particularly vulnerable — and often over-looked — part of the community who face significant employment and income challenges.

The influx of unemployed Hazelwood workers into the regional labour market is likely to create increased competition for jobs with some risk that this will have a 'ratcheting down' effect, reducing job opportunities for lower skilled and vulnerable workers (Weller et al. 2011: 6). The challenge of managing these employment risks in a geographically isolated labour market are well illustrated by the announcement in May 2017 of the closure of the Morwell timber mill, when 160 workers were told that the mill was no longer viable and was likely to close due to a timber shortage following the 2009 Victorian bushfires (ABC, 2017a).

Increasing anxiety and uncertainty about employment and community futures is also likely to create significant psychological and emotional impacts on Latrobe Valley residents (Brand 2015). A local resident and community advocate highlighted this psychological impact, saying: "[The people of the Latrobe Valley] want jobs, and they want the hope of jobs, so the morale or the psychology of the valley is linked to that ... This despondency, this gloom that's over us at the moment, won't be lifted until we can see a vision for that"20 (Lazarro, 2017b). The theme of uncertainty and its corrosive impact is felt as much by the wider community as it is by the workers. As Voices of the Valley Vice-President, Ron Ipsen observed, "People aren't afraid of change, they're afraid of uncertainty". 21

While the Latrobe Valley is situated across two local government areas — Latrobe City Council as well as Baw Baw Shire, this paper focuses primarily on the Latrobe City Council, as all Latrobe Valley coal mines and power stations are located in its jurisdiction. We include local government in our "communities" category because it is more appropriately conceived as a transitional claimant acting on behalf of the community, rather than as a government initiator of transition policy (as with the state and federal governments).

Latrobe City Council has, nonetheless been extremely active in identifying and exploring economic transition policy options. In 2010 and 2013, the Latrobe City Council published the policy documents

<sup>19</sup> While the specific numbers in this report need to be seen in the context of modelling commissioned with the aim of highlighting the employment and business risks of the Hazelwood closure, it is clear that the indirect employment impacts of the closure are likely to be significant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Ray Burgess, Morwell resident and local campaigner

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Ron Ipsen, Voices of the Valley Vice-President and campaigner

Positioning Latrobe City for a Low Emission Future and Securing Our Future, which outlined a proactive approach to creating economic growth and transition to a low carbon economy and identified a number of State and Federal Government funding priorities. A third report, A Strength-Led Transition, launched in December 2016, drew on the results of extensive community consultation to outline further proposals for building on regional economic strengths and facilitating economic diversification and transition in the Valley (Latrobe City Council, 2016). In May 2016, the Council adopted a new economic development strategy, Latrobe City Council Economic Development Strategy 2016–2020, which focused on education and training; branding and image; and investment attraction, aiming to position the Latrobe Valley as the Engineering Capital of Australia (Ibid.). This report also includes reference to ongoing Council support for the use of 'clean coal' technologies such as CCS to enable zero-emissions brown coal generation in the Valley (Ibid.)

#### Box 3: Earthworker Cooperative solar hot water manufacturing factory<sup>22</sup>

A number of regional community groups have been exploring options for alternative employment generating initiatives.<sup>23, 24</sup> Earthworker Cooperative (EWC) — a community-led initiative working to provide local, sustainable, wealth-creating jobs—has established a worker-owned solar hot water manufacturing factory in Morwell to provide an example of the innovative models that can simultaneously contribute to community, worker and environmental well-being.

The EWC raised capital and purchased the manufacturing equipment and intellectual property required for the venture, and developed a detailed feasibility study for a unique business model based on the development of a collective market for solar hot water systems via agreements with unions. This model is based on the inclusion of a clause in enterprise bargaining agreements by which workers can choose to use their wage increase to order solar hot water, realising savings on energy bills in the long run. This clause has already been implemented in a number of local workplaces. The EWC has also secured agreements with regional plumbing businesses to manufacture solar water tanks that can be used to replace old systems as they fail, creating a future stream of work.

EWC has also secured a partnership with the Bank Australia credit union, which will provide low-interest loans to households to support them in purchasing solar hot water. The Cooperative is hoping to secure a government procurement order for the provision of solar hot water systems in public housing, offering an opportunity to reduce electricity bills for low-income residents while supporting local workers and reducing pollution, and has started a petition to garner support for this government action.

<sup>23</sup> A number of groups act as the voice of residents of the Latrobe Valley towns and region, including Voices of the Valley (http://www.votv.org.au/), Advance Morwell (http://www.advancemorwell.org.au/), the Baw Baw Sustainability Network (http://www.bbsn.org.au/), and the Latrobe Valley Sustainability Group (http://www.latrobevalleysg.com/).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Sources: Earthworker Cooperative (2017a); Earthworker Cooperative (2017b); Earthworker Cooperative (2017c); MEFL (2017); Brown (2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> For example, Voices of the Valley has advocated for the need for diversification of employment sources in the Valley (including the potential for legacy grid infrastructure to form the basis of a State Energy Innovation Centre around renewable energy and storage), and Advance Morwell has raised the need for incentives to assist in accelerating that diversification process (VotV, 2016; ABC, 2016d).

#### Household and business energy consumers

The downstream impact of the Hazelwood closure on Victorian and Australian household and business energy consumers has been the subject of intense political debate, both prior to and following closure.

The CEO of the Australian Industry Group (AiG), Australia's peak industry association, called a week before Hazelwood's closure for "an 11<sup>th</sup> hour solution to keeping Hazelwood operating in some form", citing concerns over the reliability of electricity supply and the price of energy, particularly for manufacturers (AiG, 2017). He raised concerns regarding the number of businesses that may close due to the flow-on impacts of rising energy costs, the lack of "proper sequencing" of integrating renewable energy sources into the energy market prior to the closure to ensure reliable energy supply, and the need for incentives encouraging individuals and large energy users to be more energy efficient and reduce demand during peak usage (ABC Radio, 2017).

The AiG is part of a broader coalition of energy interests calling for an emissions intensity scheme (EIS) to incentivise investment in power stations and a reduction in emissions (Morton & Gordon, 2017). The Business Council of Australia, has also argued that "Victoria needs a managed transition away from coal-fired electricity generation ... to minimise the risks of this transition on system security and individual communities" (BCA, 2016). The electricity generators that own the remaining power stations in the Valley (AGL and Energy Australia) have both supported the call for an EIS and have highlighted the need for a planned transition, with an Energy Australia spokesperson stating "we need an orderly, realistic transition from large, older coal-fired power stations" (Ludlow, 2017). A spokesperson for AGL argued "It is important that all states work with the Commonwealth on a national plan for an orderly retirement of high emitting ageing thermal infrastructure" (Watson, 2016).

Hazelwood's closure has played into a broader national debate about energy policy that intensified throughout 2017. Part of the reason this debate has been so politicised is that energy prices have continued to rise sharply. Australian household electricity prices rose by 63% in real terms in the decade since 2007–2008 (ACCC, 2017) and bills were forecast to rise by a further \$78 on average over the course of 2017 (AEMC, 2016). Victorian household electricity price increases were predicted to rise between 6.5% and 11.5 % during 2017 (Downes, 2016). In June 2017, major Australian energy providers also forecast household electricity price rises of between 10 and 20% for New South Wales and Queensland (Ibrahim, 2017). The primary cause of recent electricity price rises has been hotly contested with blame variously being attributed to lack of certainty about government energy policy priorities, over-investment in energy network infrastructure, rising gas prices, over-ambitious renewable energy targets and the closure of coal fired power stations, including Hazelwood (Independent Review, 2017; Clean Energy Council, 2016).

Undoubtedly, the removal of supply associated with the closure of a large coal-fired power station will, other things being equal, raise the wholesale price of electricity. Seizing on this fact, the federal government, along with some sections of the fossil fuel industry, has attributed the recent rises in energy prices to the closure of coal-fired power stations such as Hazelwood and sought to blame state Labor government policies for causing such closures.<sup>25</sup> However, an extensive body of evidence,

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> For example, on October 17th, 2017 Prime Minister Turnbull announced that the federal government would not be proceeding with a Clean Energy Target and would instead be implementing a 'National Energy Guarantee' focusing on affordability and reliability of supply. In that statement, the Prime Minster fiercely criticised state Labor government policies designed to accelerate the closure of coal fired power stations (ABC, 2017b).

including from the most recent report on energy pricing from Australia's competition watchdog (ACCC, 2017) suggests that the primary driver of increased energy prices has, rather, been excessive investment in energy network infrastructure (known as 'gold plating').

#### **Environmental movement**

A number of Australian environmental organisations have been advocating for more than a decade for both the closure of Hazelwood and for a regulated, forward-planned transition plan to support workers and communities. These organisations include the Australian Conservation Foundation (ACF), Friends of the Earth Melbourne (FoEM), Environment Victoria (EV) Beyond Zero Emissions (BZE), Greenpeace and 350.org. The ACF has for example advocated a number of measures, such as the establishment of a body to coordinate input from all stakeholders through a transition plan; proactive economic diversification processes; assistance for training, re-location and other costs; and scheduled closure of power stations driven by shareholder and investor pressure and/or regulation on the basis of emissions intensity or age (ACF, 2016).

The ACF has also collaborated closely on these issues with the ACTU, as outlined above. Activists from FoEM have been very active in the Latrobe Valley, with representatives going to the Valley to meet and organise with local communities. FoEM has supported a number of ideas by local organisations, including the solar hot water factory by Earthworker Cooperative (see Box 3), and the Transition Centre proposed by Voices of the Valley, discussed above. <sup>26</sup> Environment Victoria has also played a significant role in working with local communities and in policy development. In addition, the Climate and Health Alliance highlighted the potential health co-benefits for the community as a result of the closure, in particular the elderly and those with asthma, respiratory or cardiovascular illnesses (Davey, 2017).

Despite ongoing collaboration with the Latrobe Valley community and consistent advocacy for a planned, orderly, regulated, just transition that includes long lead times, worker and community assistance, and proactive economic development and structural adjustment plans, there have, inevitably been mixed views within the Latrobe Valley regarding the extent to which environmental groups were prioritising the environment and action on climate change over jobs and thus the well-being of workers and communities.

#### 3. Explaining the Hazelwood closure and government responses

"Best practice" concerning the closure of mines and electricity generation plant advises long-term planning, long closure notice periods, and close collaboration between the closing companies, workers/unions, government and community stakeholders on the socio-economic dimension of the transition process, so that the costs of closure can be reduced and equitably shared (Caldecott et al., 2017; Laurence, 2006; Neil et al., 1992). Yet, as our description reveals, none of these recommendations was heeded in the period preceding Hazelwood's closure (i.e. in the roughly three-year period that constitutes the focus of our case study, described in section 2.3, above), despite widespread calls by numerous community, environment, union and even business groups for similar forms of proactive government stewardship of the phase-out of coal-fired power generation and

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> It has also advocated upgrading the rail link between Melbourne and the Valley, a residential energy efficiency retrofit program in Gippsland, an investigation of the commercial viability of geothermal in the Valley (FoEM, 2016).

regional renewal in the Valley. After the closure decision was announced, the federal and state governments came forward with transition policy packages totalling \$43 and \$266 million, respectively. In this section, we offer a preliminary explanation of these outcomes.

#### 3.1 Australia's economic and political institutions: conditioning actors' strategic responses

As noted, "best practice" concerning mine/plant closure emphasises long-term planning and extensive cooperation between stakeholders with potentially conflicting agendas (especially business, unions, government and communities). Accordingly, it makes sense to begin our explanatory analysis by considering the institutions (sometimes referred to as "institutional capacity") that condition the strategic interactions between such actors in the Australian political economy generally, and in the energy sector in particular. Our central claim here is that the relevant Australian economic and political institutions are not conducive to the kind of long-term planning and stakeholder interaction required for "best practice" mine/plant closure.

The comparative political-economic study of advanced capitalism has shown that the political-economic institutions — e.g. those pertaining to corporate governance, finance, the labour market, education/training, and social welfare — tend to function in complementary ways within countries, yielding distinct "varieties of capitalism" (Hall and Soskice, 2001). One "ideal type" variety of capitalism is the "coordinated market economy" (CME) that characterises most continental western European countries. This model relies strongly on coordinating institutions that enable close, within-sector cooperation between industrial firms *inter se*, and between firms and unions, financial institutions and relevant government agencies. These institutions foster the trust and confidence among diverse actors necessary for firms to raise "patient" finance to make long-term capital investments, for workers to make long-term investments in industry-specific skills, and for all to engage in planned, incremental innovation to accommodate changes in market conditions and government regulations / state imperatives (Hall and Soskice, 2001). CMEs thus possess institutions that are well-suited to achieving "best practice" mine/plant closure. Australia, by contrast, is closer to the ideal type of a "liberal market economy" (Hall and Soskice, 2001). Australia's political economy is characterised by

weakly organised business groups and unions, mechanisms for the decentralised determination of wages (at the level of enterprises), a competitive labour market with high labour turnover, a financial system heavily dependent on capital markets, a strong emphasis on competition and anti-trust, and an unwillingness of the state to interfere with the investment and production decisions of private firms. (Parker 2006, 213, footnotes omitted).

These features of the Australian political economy are antithetical to the kinds of long-term planning, cooperation, investment and incremental innovation associated with "best practice" plant/mine closure.

It is important, however, to go beyond the general characteristics of Australia's political economy and to investigate specific sectors, as the political-economic institutions may vary from sector to sector within a given country (Parker, 2006). The energy sector performs "essential service" functions, has a high degree of state involvement and regulation, and of necessity involves long-term investments in infrastructure. These features suggest that the Australian energy sector may be less "liberalised" / more "coordinated" than the average Australian industry. While this is true, the Victorian electricity generation sector is relatively liberalised compared with other Australian states. As discussed in our

case study, the privatisation process left the Valley's coal-fired power generators owned predominantly by consortia of multinational corporations responsive to predominantly foreign shareholders, whose primary interest lay in maximising near-term profits through leveraging debt on the asset values of the plants, and who have operated the plants using a minimum of direct employees while relying extensively on contracting and labour hire arrangements (Weller, 2012: 1268).

These features of the Victorian electricity generation sector largely explain the generators' political behaviour in the carbon pricing years, i.e. seeking to extract maximum "compensation" from governments through a combination of private lobbying and public scare campaigns (Chubb, 2014; Snell, 2011). Moreover, they explain why the companies have been, on the whole, disinclined to invest in incremental innovation of the kind that might have made their facilities more competitive under a *low* carbon price, let alone the kind of high-risk innovation into radical new technologies (such as CCS) of the kind that the CFMEU had promoted in the hope of securing the industry's future in a *highly* carbon-constrained regulatory environment. Likewise, these sectoral features also arguably go a long way to explaining Engie's commercial decision to close Hazelwood with a short lead-time and minimal consultation with unions or government before the closure announcement, and its disinclination to undertake costly incremental upgrades of the plant absent a strong commercial case for that investment.

The lack of institutional capacity to engage in "best practice" mine/plant closure is also a product of Australia's basic political institutions, of which three sets are most pertinent to the present analysis.

First, Australia's electoral system is majoritarian. State and federal governments are formed by the party with a majority of seats in the lower house of the relevant parliament,<sup>27</sup> and the composition of lower houses is determined by preferential voting in single-member districts. These electoral institutions favour the two major parties — Labor and the Liberal-National coalition,<sup>28</sup> which dominate the control of executive government at both federal and state levels. They also incentivise parties to spend a disproportionate amount of their resources (including policy attention when in government) on marginal electorates.

Second, Australia has a federal system comprising three levels of government, with authority largely divided between state and federal level. This leads to "vertical" competition and blame-shifting between state and federal governments. The degree of opportunistic competition and blame-shifting (or their opposites, cooperation and credit-taking), between state and federal level political parties depends on the specific combinations of parties that are in power at a given time, and the particular issue in question. But the potential exists for "diagonal" party competition to occur, when opposing parties are simultaneously in power at state and federal level (as has been the case, for example, in Victoria since November 2014<sup>29</sup>) and where jurisdictional authority overlaps with respect to the issue in question.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Queensland and the two territories have unicameral parliaments, but these jurisdictions are not relevant to our case study.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> The Liberal and National parties are here considered as one party as they almost always act as a conservative coalition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> This remained the case as at the time of publication of this paper, in November 2017.

States are predominantly responsible for the regulation of the energy<sup>30</sup> and resources sectors (though the federal government is also heavily involved in both sectors). Both federal and state governments effectively have significant powers over climate change and regional development. As such, there is always potential for not only horizontal, but also vertical and diagonal party competition and blame-shifting with respect to the issues relevant to our case study. In fact, party competition on these issues is three-way: energy, resources and climate change are key electoral issues for Australia's third largest party, the Australian Greens, which holds upper house seats in the federal parliament and many state parliaments<sup>31</sup> and which poses an electoral threat—mainly to Labor—in a number of inner-city lower house seats in major cities (especially Melbourne and Sydney) at both state and federal level.

Third, federal elections occur triennially (with a degree of flexibility), and Victorian state elections occur quadrennially at fixed intervals. While there are no term limits at either level, Australian governments experience a significant amount of turnover (which is partly explained by the relatively non-politicised, independent process by which electoral boundaries are set).

Overall, these three sets of political institutions make it especially electorally costly for governments to commit to long-term policies that impose perceived costs in the short term (for which they are likely to be blamed) but promise benefits in the longer term (for which an opposing party or a higher/lower level of government may be able to take credit at the time the benefits are realised) — especially where the costs are concentrated on electorally powerful groups and the future benefits are diffuse, poorly understood and perceived to be subject to uncertainty as to whether they will materialise (Jacobs 2011, 2016). Since climate/energy policies that aim to decarbonise the energy sector by directly regulating (by whatever mechanism) coal-fired power generators tend to entail precisely these intertemporal and distributional trade-offs, this creates a strong disincentive to introduce such policies (Bernauer 2013; Hovi, Sprinz, and Underdal 2009). By contrast, spending initiatives (e.g. regional development and renewable energy subsidies) tend to have more salient, near-term "winners" and to impose less salient and more diffuse costs, making them more popular and less politically risky (Jenkins 2014, 473-74; Karplus 2011; Rabe 2010). Moreover, Australia's political institutions make it difficult for governments to enter into the kinds of stable, cooperative arrangements with both unions and firms at the sectoral level that conduce to long-term sectoral transition planning and technology-intensive incremental innovation. Instead, Australia's institutions promote broadly class-based alliances along left-right partisan lines, as between labour unions and the Labor party on the one hand, and owners of capital and the Liberal-National coalition on the other.

This relatively fixed institutional context conditions the behaviour of governments (and firms and unions) and thus goes a significant way to explaining the behaviour of the Victorian and federal governments with respect to coal transition policy and the Hazelwood closure. But it cannot fully explain that behaviour, since relevant policy preferences vary between parties, and have even varied within political parties over time under the same broad institutional constraints. Within these institutional constraints, agents have objectives and make strategic and tactical choices about how to achieve them under conditions of uncertainty — and these objectives and choices are shaped by ideas, values, norms and learning from the experience of previous interaction with other agents. For our

<sup>30</sup> The electricity sector is partly regulated by a complex inter-state institutional structure governing the National Electricity Market, a physical market connecting the eastern and southern states.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> The upper house of Australia's bicameral federal parliament and (where applicable) bicameral state parliaments is based on proportional representation in multi-member districts, which makes it easier for minor parties to win seats.

purposes, it is instructive to consider the ideational legacies of the bitter political struggles over carbon pricing between 2007 and 2013 (see Part 2.2, above). This period involved a series of experiments with various novel policy paradigms and instruments, each with their attendant patterns of politics (due, e.g., to different sectoral, temporal and spatial distributions of losses and gains; different framing possibilities etc.), which played out in one of the most volatile and combative periods of Australian politics in living memory (Chubb, 2014). The politics of this period have profoundly shaped the objectives, strategies and tactics of relevant agents in the subsequent period that is the focus of our case study (i.e. 2014–17).

With this context in mind, we turn now to consider the political behaviour of the Victorian Labor government and Federal Coalition Government (and related civil society actors in each case) with a view to providing a more agent-based, rational choice-oriented perspective on the policy decisions we are analysing.

#### 3.2 The Victorian Labor Government response

The regulated "market"-based policy paradigm embodied in the (federal) Labor party's various attempts at carbon pricing proved to be politically disastrous for Labor nationally. One of the policy's political liabilities was the uncertainty of its implications for regional communities dependent on emissions-intensive or energy-intensive industries, such as the Latrobe Valley: since these implications were mediated by a mix of the policy's design and stringency, firms' response strategies, and accompanying state and federal transition policies, the implications could not be fully anticipated in advance (Weller, 2012). This inherent feature of the carbon pricing policy paradigm, combined with the near absence of transition policy directed toward the Valley's communities and workers, bred fear and mistrust in the Valley that was adroitly exploited by political opponents of the proposed schemes (see Part 2.2).

Meanwhile, the political retreat from the Rudd-era carbon pricing scheme by federal Labor (under Julia Gillard) in 2010 prompted Victorian Labor to experiment with a fundamentally different, "state-planned" or "command and control" policy paradigm, involving the payment of state funds for a predictable, phased closure of Hazelwood. Yet this also backfired in the Valley, contributing to a massive electoral swing against Labor in the state seat of Morwell that saw the National Party consolidate its position in this former Labor stronghold at the 2010 state election (Griffin, 2011: 65).

It is not hard to understand why Victorian Labor, subsequent to the 2010 election, was cautious about committing to climate and energy policies that would directly and adversely affect the Valley's generators. Instead, Victorian Labor has opted for a "pro-renewable energy" climate policy paradigm consisting of subsidies and favourable regulations for wind and solar energy (while these have an indirect effect on coal generators through the operation of the NEM, they are not widely perceived to be "anti-coal"). This more cautious strategy probably helped Victorian Labor return a stronger showing in Morwell in the 2014 election, in which the incumbent National party suffered an 11.5% (two-party preferred) swing against it to retain the seat by a slender 1.8% margin. (A perceived

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> This approach was partially replicated by Federal Labor at the 2016 federal election, though the party committed to numerous additional climate change policies of greater significance for the electricity sector, including a "baseline and credit" emissions trading scheme for generators and a phased closure of coal-fired power stations using a market mechanism (Australian Labor Party, 2016: 14–21).

weakness on coal/Hazelwood may, however, have hurt Labor in inner-city Melbourne, where it lost the prized seat of Melbourne to the Greens.<sup>33</sup>)

With Morwell now the sixth most marginal state seat in Victoria, and the second most winnable potential gain for Labor at the 2018 election,<sup>34</sup> the Government has an extremely strong electoral incentive to avoid imposing near-term costs and to confer near-term benefits on the residents of the Valley. In this light, it is easy to see the electoral logic of the Government's concerted "non-policy" with respect to generator closure, followed by its large regional investment package.

But while rational electoral calculations surely help to explain these outcomes, a simple "vote-seeking" (Downs, 1957) explanation is insufficient for at least two reasons. First, "vote-seeking" through conspicuous public expenditure can, in the eyes of voters (both those receiving the benefits and those paying for them), easily be perceived as "vote-buying" (with a negative valence) absent a narrative for the expenditure that is perceived by voters to be legitimate (see, e.g., Chubb, 2014 on voter perceptions of the Gillard Government's "household compensation" package that acompanied the 2011/2012 carbon price). Second, political preferences are also shaped by elite interests/interactions, and in this area Labor's position is likely to be influenced by the union movement and (to a much lesser extent) by environmental groups. Accordingly, Labor's positions cannot be understood without reference to wider socio-technical and economic shifts affecting the Australian electricity sector, and to related ideational shifts emerging within relevant segments of civil society.

In recent years, the expansion of renewable energy, the closure of numerous coal-fired power stations and the waning of interest in CCS have produced a consensus among key civil society stakeholders that renewable energy sources will inevitably replace coal as the dominant source of Australia's electricity (see Part 2.4, above).<sup>35</sup> This dawning inevitability has led the union movement to all but abandon hopes of a CCS-led, "clean coal" future for Australia, and to instead turn its attention to ensuring a "just transition" for workers and communities affected by these changes (see Part 2.4). This strategic shift has, in turn, brought the union movement into closer alignment with the environment movement, which has itself been receptive to a more cooperative paradigm of climate politics after the bruising years many environment groups spent defending the Rudd-Gillard carbon price schemes to no avail (see, e.g., Chubb, 2014: 174–79). "Just transition" arguably provides a powerful narrative through which the labour/union, social justice, and environment movements on the left can cooperate substantively around a shared vision of socially responsible decarbonisation.

While there is little prospect of a similar rapprochement between the political *parties* on the left, the strategic shifts in the union and environment movements just described have informed both Labor and the Greens' respective positioning on energy/climate issues in recent years, bringing them *de facto* closer together in both rhetoric and substance. For example, both parties' 2016 federal election manifestos included commitments to a "just transition" and significant policies, funds and institutional

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> The Greens won a second seat, Prahran, from the Liberal Party by just 267 votes, making Prahran the most marginal seat in the state, with a margin of just 0.03%. The contest was unusual because Green candidates tend to be more competitive in *Labor*-controlled, left-leaning electorates, rather than wealthier, conservative strongholds.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Three of the more marginal seats are already held by Labor, and one is held by the Greens in a seat that is not realistically winnable by Labor (see previous footnote): (Victorian Electoral Commission, 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> See, e.g., many of the submissions to the Senate Inquiry into the Retirement of Coal-Fired Power Stations: http://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary Business/Committees/Senate/Environment and Communications/Coal fired power stations/Submissions (accessed 15 September 2017).

innovations to facilitate an orderly and socially just transition away from coal-fired electricity for affected workers and communities (Australian Labor Party, 2016: 21–22; The Greens, 2015: 18–19). This convergent stance on "just transition" was again reflected in the parties' similar recommendations in a recent Senate Inquiry into the retirement of coal-fired power stations in Australia (Environment and Communications Legislation Committee 2017, 69–71, 80). Substantive differences between the two parties' climate policies remain over policy mechanisms, policy stringency, and the timing of decarbonisation, but the (*de facto*) convergence in policy preferences relative to the carbon price war era is substantial.

These ideational and strategic shifts on the left of politics, in the context of palpably changing material conditions in the Australian electricity sector have provided a crucial legitimising narrative for Victorian Labor's large-scale transition policy in the Valley. The just transition narrative, moreover, appears to have legitimised and strengthened the position of various community groups and local councils in the Valley that have been active in lobbying for regional development assistance of the kind that was ultimately provided by the Victorian Government.

With material conditions, electoral interests, elite interests and a socially legitimate cultural narrative aligned, the exogenously determined closure of Hazelwood provided a "policy window" (Kingdon, 2014) through which the Victorian Government's substantial transition policy package could be steered.

#### 3.3 The federal Coalition Government response

The coalition's response package is more difficult to explain, but can arguably best be seen as a defensive/reactive political move in response to the latest in a series of events in the energy sector that were already damaging its electoral credibility.

The political legacy of the carbon price wars on the behaviour of the Liberal-National coalition is more complex and nuanced than is the case with Labor. The current Prime Minister, Malcolm Turnbull, a moderate liberal committed to climate policy, was also "burned" by the politics of carbon pricing: he strongly advocated emissions trading and sought to negotiate bipartisan passage of Kevin Rudd's emissions trading scheme bills through Parliament in 2009, only to be ousted by his party-room colleagues, who installed as leader the virulently anti-carbon-pricing and pro-coal Tony Abbott. Mr Abbott went on to become Prime Minister in 2013 and to repeal the carbon price, but after two years as Prime Minister, the unpopular Mr Abbott was ousted by his party-room, to be replaced by Mr Turnbull. It is not a gross oversimplification to characterise these two figures as representing internal factions within the Liberal-National coalition party room and cabinet that have strongly opposed views on a range of issues relevant to climate and energy policy. These internal party divisions have effectively prevented the Turnbull Government from introducing any significant energy or climate policy reforms, let alone ones that would adversely affect the coal industry. The announcement, on 17 October 2017, of the Turnbull government's decision to reject the Finkel Review's recommendation for a 'Clean Energy Target' and replace it with a 'National Energy Guarantee' provides the strongest indication yet that the balance of power in the Federal coalition has now swung decisively in favour of the latter group of MPs, who are staunchly pro-coal and strongly prioritise action to maintain the reliability and affordability of energy (ABC, 2017b).

The ideological battles of the carbon price era, and the subsequent climate/energy policy stagnation, have also affected the positions and behaviour of various business interests. The investment-stalling uncertainty caused by the absence of overarching federal climate policy has coincided with and exacerbated a range of challenges facing the NEM associated with the over-supply of coal-fired power generation capacity and the continued growth in renewables (see above). In this context, and as noted in Part 2.4, above, significant sections of the business community including the Australian Industry Group and the Business Council of Australia have consistently called for a clear and stable climate/energy policy solution. A combination of market-related structural challenges and business pressure for reform has, in turn, helped keep the politics of energy and climate change on the public agenda, exposing internal divisions and policy deficits within the Government.

In this context, the federal Coalition (in government) and its state-level colleagues (in opposition) have sought to blame Victorian Labor for Hazelwood's closure and to delegitimise Labor's transition policy response (see above, Part 2.4). For example, the Federal Minister for the Environment claimed that Engie was "driven out of town" by the decision of the Victorian government to triple the brown coal royalty and establish a 40% renewable energy target, which he labelled "an ideological approach" that "traded away blue collar jobs in the regions to win green votes in the city" (Gordon, 2016; Baxendale, 2016).

The federal government's \$43 million regional support package for the Valley can in this context arguably best be understood as an attempt to buy itself enough credibility in the debate over energy transition to criticise Victorian Labor, and to deflect attention and criticism away from its own policy failings and internal divisions in the energy/climate domain.

#### 4. Conclusion

This paper has provided an in-depth case study of the political economy of transition policy (and its absence) surrounding the closure of Australia's most carbon-intensive coal-fired power generator, the Hazelwood power station. The case study is particularly insightful for its representation of the interplay between the following three sets of phenomena: (i) climate policies in the stationary energy sector (and, more generally, structural forces tending toward the decarbonisation of energy systems); (ii) the spatial distribution of the costs of such policies (or wider structural changes) in regions with a high dependence on carbon/energy-intensive industries and associated patterns of politics; and (iii) the role of transition policy as a mediating variable between (i) and (ii). As the world decarbonises — or rather, in order for it to decarbonise — social-scientific attention to the interaction of these three phenomena must be an urgent priority. It is hoped that our analysis has contributed fruitfully to this important agenda.

In this concluding section, we draw out some implications of our explanatory analysis that may be informative to stakeholders in the Latrobe Valley. Insofar as similar conditions and variables exist in other regions/contexts, these implications may also apply to them.

In our explanatory discussion, we argued that the decision to close Hazelwood and the absence of "best practice" can largely be explained by the nature of the political-economic institutions governing Victoria's energy generation sector. These institutions determined the kinds of organisations primarily responsible for making decisions about power station closure and shaped both the strategies of such organisations and their interactions with other key stakeholders, such as unions, government and the

local community. Having privatised its power generation sector in the 1990s, private (mostly multinational and foreign-owned) corporations owned the Valley's generation assets, including Hazelwood. Unsurprisingly, these private companies made their own decision about how to maximise their profits within the bounds set by existing laws and regulations.

What does this imply about the potential for future coal plant closures in Australia to be managed in a more consultative, planned and orderly fashion? One implication is that, absent institutional reform (discussed below), the most likely means by which plant closure could move closer toward best practice is through the operation of *market* pressures. For example, there is increasing interest globally among major institutional investors in using their influence as shareholders to push the managers of carbon-intensive energy companies to adopt "just transition" strategies as they decarbonise their asset portfolios. As Robins (2017) notes:

Some investors have started to integrate the implications for workers and communities into their climate engagement. CalPERS [a large Californian pension fund], for example, has done this in its work with US utility companies. Furthermore, unions, through the Committee on Workers['] Capital, have developed Shareholder Resolution Principles that require companies to deliver plans for decarbonisation along with social dialogue.

With resolutions calling on US corporations to publish climate scenarios winning 62% support at Exxon and 67% at Occidental this year, the next step is to incorporate the social implications of the transition more explicitly into proactive shareholder engagement strategies, for example, around scenario analysis and corporate strategy (including the design and implementation of employment plans).

While such initiatives are in their infancy, they point to an opportunity for Australian unions and environmental groups — possibly via their international counterparts — to engage with institutional investors who hold stocks in companies that own Australian coal-fired power stations. The aim would be to mobilise institutional investors to pressure such companies to adopt more worker- and community-friendly, just transition-style policies for managing the closure of their assets. Robins (2017) suggests a number of reasons why enlightened institutional investors, with their long-term investment horizons, should be motivated to adopt such shareholder engagement strategies. Given the size of the Australian superannuation sector, Australian super funds could potentially be a prominent target of such mobilisation efforts. In other Australian states where governments still own stakes in coal-fired power stations, governments and unions may be able to press more directly for better transition planning, without needing to rely on third party institutional investors. In any case, analysis of the prospect for such market-based initiatives toward just transition would be a useful avenue for future research.

A second implication of our analysis is that, unless and until private energy companies are pushed by their shareholders to adopt such "best practice" with regard to mine/plant closure and just transition strategies, institutional reforms will be necessary to alter the incentives companies face. Two broad institutional reform strategies appear to be theoretically possible: one focusing on background political-economic institutions; another on specific regulatory changes relevant to plant closure/transition.

Under the first of these approaches, governments could try to create new or alter existing institutions so as to increase the level of strategic coordination between energy firms, governments, unions and affected community stakeholders, effectively making governance in Australia's energy sector more "corporatist". The idea would be to facilitate better transition planning indirectly, by engineering deeper forms of interaction between stakeholders so as to improve information flows and build trust and cooperation over time. However, given the nature of Australia's entrenched political and economic institutions, lack of recent historical experience with corporatist power-sharing arrangements, and the current energy/climate policy polarisation between the two main political parties, the prospect of a near-term corporatist turn in Australian energy/climate governance seems dim.

The second approach, involving the direct regulation of companies' transition obligations, is more concordant with Australia's political-economic institutions. He idea would be for state or (ideally) federal governments to strengthen existing laws/regulations governing the closure obligations of energy companies, or enact new laws to regulate closure. Companies already face legal obligations with respect to plant closure, decommissioning and rehabilitation. These could be strengthened, for example, with respect to closure notice periods, workforce transition planning, and stakeholder consultation processes. Alternatively, entirely new mechanisms could be introduced to provide incentives for an orderly phase out of emissions-intensive facilities such as coal-fired power generators (see, e.g., Environment and Communications Legislation Committee 2017: chap. 3; Jotzo and Mazouz, 2015). Of course, the more interventionist the measure, the greater the costs imposed on existing generators and the more politically contentious the reforms are likely to be — and this tension is indeed one of the very reasons that energy/climate-policymaking of this more interventionist variety has been so conspicuously absent in the 2014–17 period that we have analysed.

This leads us to our final observation: in this difficult policymaking environment, an important variable is likely to be the agency of civil society actors in making the *politics* of energy/climate policymaking more conducive to just transition-oriented regulatory reforms. Our case study has demonstrated that the positions of key civil society stakeholders in Australia's energy debate, including unions, environment groups and to some extent business groups have been converging toward a just or at least orderly transition as a rhetorical heuristic for substantive policies to improve the transition arrangements in the Australian energy sector. As we have argued with respect to Victoria, this civil society action provided a rationale for, at least, some significant *ex-post* transition policy when political and electoral conditions were ripe, as they were following the Hazelwood closure announcement.<sup>37</sup>

In conclusion, from the perspective of "best practice" approaches to managing the transition away from carbon-intensive energy, the unfortunate takeaway from this case study is that Australia's

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> As Alan Jacobs has noted, "Comparative analyses of policy making under uncertainty suggest that actors view institutional context and policy design as substitute solutions to the problem of long-run commitment. Policymakers tend to select inflexible policy designs in the absence of robust institutional devices for managing uncertainty ..." (Jacobs, 2016: 447)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> It remains to be seen whether the government transition policy packages for the Valley will themselves have a transformative effect on the politics of energy and climate change in Australia, but such a "positive policy feedback effect" (Pierson 1993) is a distinct possibility given the scale and direction of investments, at least in the Victorian package. Future research could usefully track the political effects of these interventions as they are implemented over the coming months and (potentially) years.

transition is likely to be far from "optimal". However, the case study has also shown that opportunities for mitigating the effects of decarbonisation on affected workers and communities through policy channels will inevitably arise. Motivated stakeholders can increase the likelihood of such policies being implemented by forging cross-sectional alliances under the umbrella of "just transition" and lobbying governments, while at the same time working through market channels.

As has so often proved to be the case in Australian energy and climate policymaking over the last decade, opportunism seems likely to be more effective than optimisation.

## References

- Anderson, S. (2017, March 30) "Hazelwood power station closure: What does it mean for electricity bills, the environment and the Latrobe Valley?" available at: http://www.abc.net.au/news/2017-03-30/hazelwood-power-plant-shutdown-explained/8379756 accessed 11th August, 2017.
- ACTU (2016), Sharing the challenges and opportunities of a clean energy economy: A Just Transition for coal-fired electricity sector workers and communities, Policy discussion paper.
- ACTU (2017b, March 10) "Government, Unions and Power Station Operators reach agreement on historic Latrobe Valley Worker Transfer Scheme Media Release" available at: https://www.actu.org.au/actu-media/media-releases/2017/government-unions-and-power-station-operators-reach-agreement-on-historic-latrobe-valley-worker-transfer-scheme accessed 11th August, 2017.
- Andrews, D. (2016a, November 3) Labor government to support Hazelwood workers Media Release.
- Andrews, D. (2016b, November 4) Economic growth zone to boost Latrobe valley business Media Release.
- Andrews, D. (2016c, November 21) New hi-tech jobs for the Latrobe valley—Media Release.
- Australian Broadcasting Corporation (2014, 1 March) "Morwell mine fire: Premier Denis Napthine backs Victorian health officer's decision on warning" available at: http://www.abc.net.au/news/2014-02-28/speculation-napthine-to-announce-partial-evacuation-of-morwell/5289992 accessed 1st September, 2017.
- Australian Broadcasting Corporation (2016a, September 24) "Hazelwood power plant: French owner ENGIE has made 'no decision' on station closure" available at: http://www.abc.net.au/news/2016-09-24/hazelwood-owner-engie-has-made-no-decision-victoria-government/7874022 accessed 11th August, 2017.
- Australian Broadcasting Corporation (2016b, May 26) "Hazelwood mine and power station owner Engie Australia downplays possible closure" available at: http://www.abc.net.au/news/2016-05-26/gippsland-hazelwood-brown-coal-mine-future/7447146 accessed 11th August, 2017.
- Australian Broadcasting Corporation (2016c, February 4) "Hazelwood mine operator could face millions in fines after charges over 2014 fire" available at: http://www.abc.net.au/news/2016-02-04/hazelwood-mine-operator-charged-over-devastating-2014-blaze/7138378 accessed 11th August, 2017.
- Australian Broadcasting Corporation (2016d, November 3) "Hazelwood closure: Morwell residents nervous about a future without power plant" available at: http://www.abc.net.au/news/2016-11-03/hazelwood-closure-morwell-community-reaction/7942220 accessed 1st September, 2017.
- Australian Broadcasting Corporation (2016e, November 4) "Hazelwood closure: Special economic zone to be established for Latrobe Valley", available at: accessed.

- Australian Broadcasting Corporation (2016f, April 25) "Victoria to raise royalties for brown coal; Government expects to raise \$250m" available at: http://www.abc.net.au/news/2016-04-23/victoria-to-raise-250m-by-increasing-brown-coal-royalties/7352526 accessed 9th November, 2017.
- Australian Broadcasting Corporation (2017a, 17 September) "Heyfield timber mill to be saved as Victorian Government signs deal to buy struggling business" http://www.abc.net.au/news/2017-09-15/deal-made-on-heyfield-timber-mill/8948736 accessed 17 October 2017.
- Australian Broadcasting Corporation (2017b, 17 October) "Clean Energy Target Dumped by Co-alition" http://www.abc.net.au/news/2017-10-17/coalition-signs-off-on-new-energy-plan-to-replace-cet-proposal/9057026 accessed 17 October 2017.
- Australian Broadcasting Corporation Radio (2017, March 24) "Interview with Innes Willox, CEO, Australian Industry Group", Media Monitors Transcript, ID: M00069815854.
- Australian Conservation Foundation & Australian Council of Trade Unions (2016) *Jobs in a Clean Energy Future.*
- Australian Conservation Foundation (ACF) (2016) Australia's 10 biggest climate polluters 2016, available at: http://apo.org.au/system/files/61899/apo-nid61899-15426.pdf
- Australian Council of Trade Unions (ACTU) (2017a, May 1) "All major energy companies now included in historic Latrobe Valley Worker Transfer Scheme Media Release", available at: https://www.actu.org.au/actu-media/media-releases/2017/all-major-energy-companies-now-included-in-historic-latrobe-valley-worker-transfer-scheme accessed 11th August, 2017.
- Australian Competition and Consumer Commission (2017) "Retail Electricity Pricing Enquiry, Preliminary Report", ACCC, Canberra, 22 September. https://www.accc.gov.au/publications/accc-retail-electricity-pricing-inquiry-preliminary-report Australian Energy Market Operator (AEMO) (2017, March 23) "Media Release: AEMO reaffirms position on energy security", AEMO.
- Australian Labor Party (2016) Climate Change Action Plan Policy Paper. https://cdn.australianlabor.com.au/documents/Climate\_change\_action\_plan\_policy\_paper. pdf.
- Australian Manufacturing Workers' Union (AMWU) (2017, March) "Latest union wins!" available at: http://www.amwu.org.au/latest\_union\_wins\_march\_2017 accessed 7th July, 2017.
- Baer, H.A. (2016) "The nexus of the coal industry and the state in Australia: Historical dimensions and contemporary challenges", Energy Policy, 99: 194-202.
- Baker, D. (2010) "'Switch off Hazelwood': Policing, Protest and a 'Polluting Dinosaur'" CURRENT ISSUES IN CRIMINAL JUSTICE, 22(1): 45-61.
- Barfoot, C. & Zaghlool, B. (2017, June 5) "Solar, Wind and Hydro for the Latrobe Valley and Gippsland", Presentation to Beyond Zero Emissions Discussion Group on 5th June, 2017, available at:

- http://podcast.bze.org.au/storage/dg\_05062017\_chris-barfoot\_slides.pdf accessed 24th July, 2017.
- Baxendale, R. (2016, November 4) "Hazelwood closure bad news for Victoria warns Josh Frydenberg", The Australian, available at: http://www.theaustralian.com.au/national-affairs/hazelwood-closure-bad-news-for-victoria-warns-josh-frydenberg/news-story/5ae3e0948f229894e71d28aa822f3a92 accessed 19th July, 2017.
- Bernauer, T. (2013) "Climate Change Politics." Annual Review of Political Science 16: 421–48.
- Bloomberg New Energy Finance (2017) New Energy Outlook 2017. https://about.bnef.com/new-energy-outlook/.
- Borschmann, G. (2017, March 24) "Hazelwood won't be the last of Latrobe Valley's coal-fired power stations to close", ABC News, available at: http://www.abc.net.au/news/2017-03-24/hazelwood-latrobe-valley-not-the-first-or-the-last-to-close/8380760 accessed 11th August, 2017.
- Boschma, R., Coenen, L., Frenken, K. & Truffer, B. (2017) "Towards a Theory of Regional Diversification: Combining Insights from Evolutionary Economic Geography and Transition Studies." Regional Studies 51(1): 31–45.
- Brand, J.E. (2015) "The Far-Reaching Impact of Job Loss and Unemployment." Annual Review of Sociology 41: 359–75.
- Brown, H. (2016, October 23) "Next generation pushes for green energy to renew Hazelwood power station", ABC News, available at: http://www.abc.net.au/news/2016-10-23/push-for-greenengy-to-renew-hazelwood-power-station/7956988 accessed 2nd August, 2017.
- Büchs, M., Bardsley, N. & Duwe, S. (2011) "Who Bears the Brunt? Distributional Effects of Climate Change Mitigation Policies." Critical Social Policy 31(2): 285–307.
- Business Council of Australia (2016) Victorian Renewable Energy Auction Scheme, September 2016.
- Caldecott, B., Sartor, O. & Spencer, T. (2017) Lessons from previous 'Coal Transitions': High-level Summary for Decision-makers, Part of 'Coal Transitions: Research and Dialogue on the Future of Coal' Project, IDDRI & Climate Strategies, available at: http://www.iddri.org/Publications/Rapports-and-briefing-papers/COAL\_SynthesisReport\_v04.pdf.
- Cameron, J. & Gibson, K. (2005) "Alternative Pathways to Community and Economic Development: The Latrobe Valley Community Partnering Project", Geographical Research, 43(3): 274-285.
- Centre for People, Organisation and Work (CPOW) (2017) "Doing things Differently: A Strategy for the Gippsland Region", Centre for People, Organisation and Work, RMIT University.
- CFMEU (2017) "Victoria proves a just transition is possible" available at: https://www.cfmeu.org.au/news/victoria-proves-just-transition-possible accessed 11th August, 2017.

- Cherp, A. et al. (2017) "Comparing Electricity Transitions: A Historical Analysis of Nuclear, Wind and Solar Power in Germany and Japan." Energy Policy 101: 612–28.
- Chester, D. (2017a, March 31) "In Parliament: Hazelwood Power Station", Published in Latest Speeches, available at: http://darrenchester.com/in-parliament/2174-hazelwood-power-station accessed 10th July, 2017.
- Chester, D. (2017b, February 1) "Media Room: COMMON SENSE APPROACH TO ENERGY SUPPLY WELCOMED" available at: https://darrenchester.com.au/media-room/2120-common-sense-approach-energy-supply-welcomed accessed 10th July, 2017.
- Chubb, P. (2014) Power Failure. Melbourne, Australia: Black Inc.
- Clean Energy Council (2016) Clean Energy Australia 2016, Clean Energy Council, Melbourne https://www.cleanenergycouncil.org.au/policy-advocacy/reports/clean-energy-australia-report.html
- Climate Institute (3 November, 2016) Sudden Hazelwood exit shows that a government plan for clean energy transition is overdue, Media Release.
- Colebatch, T. (28 March 2017) "Old coal, no new gas: how to generate an electricity crisis", National Affairs, Inside Story.
- Committee for Gippsland (2016) Our region our future: Securing an economic future for Gippsland and Latrobe Valley, available at www.thecommitteeforgippsland.com.au.
- Cowan, J. (2017, March 28) "Inside Hazelwood: An ode to the workers", ABC News, available at: http://www.abc.net.au/news/2017-03-27/inside-hazelwood-an-ode-to-workers/8380042 accessed 11th August, 2017.
- Davey, M. (2017, March 28) "Impact of job losses in Hazelwood may outweigh health benefits, AMA says" The Guardian, available at: https://www.theguardian.com/australianews/2017/mar/29/australian-medical-association-job-losses-hazelwood-brown-coal-power-closure-health-benefits accessed 1st September, 2017.
- De Clercq, G. (2016, May 25) "UPDATE 1-Engie mulls closing Australia's Hazelwood coal-fired power plant", available at: http://www.reuters.com/article/engie-coal-australia-idUSL5N18M5PF?type=companyNews accessed 26th July, 2017.
- Department of Environment and Energy (2016, November 3) "Media Release: GOVERNMENT TO SUPPORT HAZELWOOD WORKERS" available at: http://www.environment.gov.au/minister/frydenberg/media-releases/pubs/mr20161103.pdf accessed 28th August, 2017.
- Department of Environment and Energy (DEE) (2015) "Australia's 2030 Emissions Reduction Target" available at: http://www.environment.gov.au/climate-change/publications/factsheet-australias-2030-emissions-reduciton-target accessed 26th July, 2017.

- Department of Premier & Cabinet (DPC) (2016a) Hazelwood Mine Fire Inquiry: Victorian government implementation plan, June 2016.
- Downes, P. (2016, December 2) Gas and Electricity Prices in Victoria, Canstar Blue, https://www.canstarblue.com.au/energy/electricity/vic-providers/gas-electricity-prices-rise-victoria/ accessed 30th October 2017.
- Downs, A. (1957) "An Economic Theory of Political Action in a Democracy." Journal of Political Economy 65(2): 135–50.
- DPC (2016b) Planning for a better future in the Latrobe Valley The Victorian Government's Implementation Plan following the Hazelwood Mine Fire Inquiry.
- EIA (2017) "How much carbon dioxide is produced when different fuels are burned?" available at: https://www.eia.gov/tools/faqs/faq.php?id=73&t=11 accessed 1st September, 2017.
- Eklund (2017, 30 Mar) "Hazelwood power station: from modernist icon to greenhouse pariah", The Conversation, available at: https://theconversation.com/hazelwood-power-station-from-modernist-icon-to-greenhouse-pariah-75217 accessed 10th April 2017.
- Energy Australia (2017) "Yallourn Power Station" available at: https://www.energyaustralia.com.au/about-us/energy-generation/yallourn-power-station, accessed 1st September, 2017.
- Engie (2016, November 3) " Hazelwood to close in March 2017 Media Release" available at: http://www.gdfsuezau.com/media/UploadedDocuments/News/Hazelwood%20Clousure/Ha zelwood%20Closure%20-%20Media%20release.pdf accessed 11th August, 2017.
- Engie (2017a) "Loy Yang B power station", available at: http://www.gdfsuezau.com/media/factsheets/5/ENGIE%20LYB%20Fact%20Sheet.pdf accessed 10th May, 2017.
- Engie (2017b) History of Hazelwood, available at: http://www.gdfsuezau.com/media/UploadedDocuments/Hazelwood%20Closure/History/Hazelwood%20History%20Brochure.pdf accessed 11th, August, 2017.
- Engie (2017c) "Chapter 2: What economic benefit does the coal mine bring?" Sustainability Report Hazelwood Coal Mine for the period 1 July 2015 to 30 June 2016: Volume 1.
- Environment and Communications Legislation Committee (2017) Retirement of Coal Fired Power Stations: Final Report. Canberra. http://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary\_Business/Committees/Senate/Environment\_and\_Communications/Coal fired power stations/Final Report.
- Environment Justice Australia (EJA) & Voices of the Valley (2015, August) Voices of the Valley submission with respect to terms of reference 6 and 7, available at: http://hazelwoodinquiry.vic.gov.au/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/Environmental-Justice-Australia-Voice-of-the-Valley-submission.pdf accessed 1st September, 2017.

- Environment Victoria (2017) "Hazelwood FAQs" available at: https://environmentvictoria.org.au/hazelwood-faqs/ accessed 11th August, 2017.
- Evans, G. & Phelan, L. (2016) "Transition to a post-carbon society: Linking environmental justice and just transition discourses" Energy Policy, 99: 329–339.
- Fairbrother, P. & Testi J. (2002) "The advent of multinational ownership of the Victorian electricity generating plants: questions for labour", in Fairbrother, P., Paddon, M. and Teicher, J. (eds) Privatisation, Globalisation and Labour: Studies from Australia. The Federation Press, Annandale, NSW, as cited in Cameron & Gibson (2005).
- Fay, M. et al. (2015) Decarbonizing Development: Three Steps to a Zero-Carbon Future. Washington, DC. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/21842.
- Friends of the Earth Melbourne (2016) Take action to support the Transition.
- Fyfe, M. & Tomazin, F. (2005) "Hazelwood extension gets the 'green' light" available at: http://www.theage.com.au/news/national/hazelwood-extension-gets-the-green-light/2005/09/06/1125772522506.html accessed 11th August, 2017.
- Galetta, S. (2016, June 26) "Hazelwood mine operators 'categorically' deny decision has been made about Morwell future" ABC Gippsland, available at: http://www.abc.net.au/news/2016-06-24/hazelwood-engie-brown-coal-latrobe-valley-future-community-forum/7537600 accessed 11th August, 2017.
- Galloway (2017, May 4) "AGL to shut down Loy Yang power plant over industrial action threat", Herald Sun, available at: http://www.heraldsun.com.au/business/agl-to-shut-down-loy-yang-power-plant-over-industrial-action-threat/news-story/0ecf02c1817f9b1aac696d069a2ea262 accessed 11th August, 2017.
- Garnaut, R. (2008) The Garnaut Climate Change Review, available at: http://www.garnautreview.org.au/index.htm
- GCEC. (2014) Better Growth Better Climate (Global Report).
- Geels, F.W., Berkhout, F. & van Vuuren, D.P. (2016) "Bridging Analytical Approaches for Low-Carbon Transitions." Nature Climate Change 6(6): 576–83.
- Geoscience Australia (2016) "Coal summary", available at http://www.ga.gov.au/aera/coal accessed 28th August, 2017.
- Giurco, D., Cohen, B., Langham, E. & Warnken, M. (2011) "Backcasting energy futures using industrial ecology", Technological Forecasting & Social Change, 78 (2011) 797–818.
- Gordon, J. & Preiss, B. (2016, November 4) "Latrobe Valley set to gain \$266 million rescue package", The Age, available at: http://www.theage.com.au/victoria/latrobe-valley-set-to-gain-266-million-rescue-package-20161103-gshhqe.html accessed 20th July, 2017.
- Gordon, J. (2016, November 4) "Hazelwood owner 'driven out of town' by Daniel Andrews: Frydenberg", The Age, available at: http://www.theage.com.au/victoria/hazelwood-owner-

- driven-out-of-town-by-daniel-andrews-frydenberg-20161104-gsicnq.html accessed 19th July, 2017.
- Green, F. (2017) "Transition Policies for Climate Change Mitigation: Who, What, Why and How", Working Paper.
- ——. (2015) Nationally Self-Interested Climate Change Mitigation: A Unified Conceptual Framework. http://www.cccep.ac.uk/Publications/Working-papers/Papers/220-229/WP224-Green.pdf.
- ———..(2011) "Carbon Compensation in the Resources and Energy Sectors." AMPLA Yearbook [Journal of the Australian Resources and Energy Law Association] 5: 468–89.
- Griffin, A. (2011) Review of the 2010 Victorian State Election. http://www.viclabor.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/Victorian-2010-State-Election-Review-Report-Final.pdf.
- Hall, P.A. & Soskice, D. (2001) "An Introduction to Varieties of Capitalism." In Varieties of Capitalism: The Institutional Foundations of Comparative Advantage, eds. Peter A. Hall and David Soskice. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1–68.
- Hazelwood Mine Fire Inquiry (HMFI) (2015-16) Transcript of Proceedings: 2015/16 Hazelwood Mine Fire Inquiry Melbourne Thursday, 22 October 2015 available at: http://hazelwoodinquiry.vic.gov.au/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/Health-Public-Hearings-Day-5-Transcript.pdf accessed 1st September, 2017.
- ——. (2014) "Hazelwood Mine Fire Inquiry Executive Summary" available at: http://report.hazelwoodinquiry.vic.gov.au/executive-summary/hazelwood-mine-fire.html accessed 1st September, 2017.
- Hazelwood Mine Fire Inquiry Report (HMFIR) (2016a) Hazelwood Mine Fire Inquiry Report 2015/2016, Volume ii Investigations into 2009 2014 deaths.
- ———. (2016b) Hazelwood Mine Fire Inquiry Report 2015/2016, volume iii Health improvement.
- ———. (2016c) Hazelwood Mine Fire Inquiry Report 2015/2016 volume iv Mine rehabilitation.
- Healy, N. (2017) "Politicizing Energy Justice and Energy System Transitions: Fossil Fuel Divestment and a 'just Transition.'" Energy Policy 108: 451–59.
- Heritage Council of Victoria (2008) Mining Heritage Study in Victoria, Prepared by Jack Vines.
- Hickson, K., (2009) "The ABC of Carbon: Issues and Opportunities in the Global Climate Change Environment", ABC Carbon, Toowong, Queensland, as cited in Baer (2016).
- Hills, J. (2012) Getting the Measure of Fuel Poverty: Final Report of the Fuel Poverty Review by John Hills. London. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/final-report-of-the-fuel-poverty-review.

- Hovi, J., Sprinz, D.F., & Underdal, A. (2009) "Implementing Long-Term Climate Policy: Time Inconsistency, Domestic Politics, International Anarchy." Global Environmental Politics 9(3): 20–39.
- Ibrahim, T. (2017, 22 June) Electricity bills to jump by up to 20% from 1 July Choice, https://www.choice.com.au/shopping/shopping-for-services/utilities/articles/electricity-prices-to-increase-july-220617 accessed 30th October 2017.
- Independent Review (2016) Independent Review into the Electricity and Gas Markets in Victoria, Melbourne.

  https://engage.vic.gov.au/application/files/7415/0267/4425/Retail\_Energy\_Review\_\_Final\_Report.pdf
- International Labour Organization (ILO) (2015) Guidelines for a just transition towards environmentally sustainable economies and societies for all, available at: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed\_emp/--- emp\_ent/documents/publication/wcms\_432859.pdf accessed 1st August, 2017.
- Jacobs, A.M. (2011) Governing for the Long Term: Democracy and the Politics of Investment. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- ———. (2016) "Policy Making for the Long Term in Advanced Democracies." Annual Review of Political Science 19(1): 433–54.
- Jenkins, J.D. (2014) "Political Economy Constraints on Carbon Pricing Policies: What Are the Implications for Economic Efficiency, Environmental Efficacy, and Climate Policy Design?" Energy Policy 69: 467–77.
- Jones, S. (2014) "Flirting with Climate Change: A Comparative Policy Analysis of Subnational Governments in Canada and Australia." Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis: Research and Practice 16(5): 424–40.
- Jotzo, F. & Mazouz, S. (2015) "Brown Coal Exit: A Market Mechanism for Regulated Closure of Highly Emissions Intensive Power Stations." Economic Analysis and Policy 48: 71–81.
- Karplus, V.J. (2011) "Climate and Energy Policy for U.S. Passenger Vehicles: A Technology-Rich Economic Modeling and Policy Analysis." MIT. http://globalchange.mit.edu/files/document/Karplus\_PhD\_2011.pdf.
- Kingdon, J.W. (2014) Agendas, Alternatives and Public Policies. 2nd ed. Harlow: Pearson.
- Kinsella, E. (2015, December 9) "Hazelwood mine inquiry: Fire 'likely' contributed to an increase in deaths in Latrobe Valley" available at: http://www.abc.net.au/news/2015-12-09/hazelwood-mine-fire-likely-caused-latrobe-deaths-inquiry-finds/7004546 accessed 11th August, 2017.
- Kuch, D. (2017) "Fixing' Climate Change through Carbon Capture and Storage: Situating Industrial Risk Cultures." Futures 92: 90–99.

- Langmaid, A. (2017a, March 31) "Hazelwood closure: power station shuts and jobs go", Herald Sun, available at: http://www.heraldsun.com.au/news/victoria/why-hazelwood-is-shutting-down-what-does-this-mean-for-workers/news-story/a5848ba904b515fa3e43de4eb141fa7a accessed 11th August, 2017.
- Langmaid, A. (2017b, March 29) "Premier Daniel Andrews snubs media at Hazelwood Power Station", Herald Sun, available at: http://www.heraldsun.com.au/news/victoria/premier-daniel-andrews-snubs-media-at-hazelwood-power-station/news-story/b1cc04561bc33d57cc97bd9295d8446f accessed 19th July, 2017.
- Latrobe City Council (2016, December) A Strength-Led Transition, available at: www.latrobe.vic.gov.au/.../A\_Strength\_Led\_Transition\_-\_Latrobe\_City\_Council\_2016\_-\_low\_res.pdf accessed 26th July, 2017.
- Latrobe Valley Authority (LVA) (2017, April 12) "News: Public housing upgrade creates 80 construction jobs in the Latrobe Valley" available at: http://lva.vic.gov.au/public-housing-upgrade-creates-80-construction-jobs-latrobe-valley/ accessed 1st September, 2017.
- Lauber, V., & Jacobsson, S. (2016) "The Politics and Economics of Constructing, Contesting and Restricting Socio-Political Space for Renewables The German Renewable Energy Act." Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions 18: 147–63.
- Laurence, D. (2006) "Optimisation of the Mine Closure Process." Journal of Cleaner Production 14: 285–98.
- Lazarro, K. (2017a, May 9) "Fair Work Commission cancels strike plans at AGL's Loy Yang A power station in Latrobe Valley" available at: http://www.abc.net.au/news/2017-05-09/fair-work-cancels-agl-strike-plans-at-loy-yang-a/8509334 accessed 11th August, 2017.
- Lazarro, K. (2017b, March 31) "Hazelwood closure: Latrobe Valley 'needs jobs, not new pools' to help transition from coal industry", ABC News, available at: http://www.abc.net.au/news/2017-03-31/hazelwood-latrobe-valleyneeds-jobs-not-new-pools-locals-say/8392784 accessed 11th August, 2017.
- Lee, S.F., O'Connor, M.M., Chapman, Y., Hamilton, V. & Francis, K. (2009) A very public death: dying of mesothelioma and asbestos-related lung cancer (M/ARLC) in the Latrobe Valley, Victoria, Australia", Rural and Remote Health, 9: 1183 (Online).
- Lesman, B., & Darby, P. (2015) The 2014 Victorian State Election. Melbourne. https://www.parliament.vic.gov.au/publications/research-papers/send/36-research-papers/13714-2014-election-paper-master.
- Lesman, B., Macreadie, R. & Gardiner, G. (2011) The 2010 Victorian State Election. https://www.parliament.vic.gov.au/publications/research-papers/send/36-research-papers/13686-2010-victorian-state-election.
- Ludlow, M. (2017, March 5) "EnergyAustralia and AGL back an emissions intensity scheme for the electricity sector" Australian Financial Review, available at:

- http://www.afr.com/news/politics/energyaustralia-and-agl-back-an-emissions-intensity-scheme-for-the-electricity-sector-20170305-guqyn2 accessed 1st September, 2017.
- Macintosh, A., Wilkinson, D. & Denniss, R. (2010) "Climate Change." In The Rudd Government: Australian Commonwealth Administration 2007–2010, eds. Chris Aulich and Mark Evans. Canberra: ANU E-Press, 199–220.
- Marshall, J.P. (2016) "Disordering Fantasies of Coal and Technology: Carbon Capture and Storage in Australia." Energy Policy 99: 288–98. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2016.05.044.
- Menezes, F., Quiggin, J. & Wagner, L. (2009) "Grandfathering and Greenhouse: The Role of Compensation and Adjustment Assistance in the Introduction of a Carbon Emissions Trading Scheme for Australia." Economic Papers: A journal of applied economics and policy 28(2): 82–92.
- Moreland Energy Foundation (MEFL) (2007) APPENDIX E: Saving Energy, Creating Jobs Feasibility Study, Produced by the Moreland Energy Foundation Ltd, on behalf of the Electrical Trades Union, Australian Manufacturing Workers Union, Communication, Electrical and Plumbing Union (Plumbers) Vic.
- Morton, A. & Gordon, J. (2017, March 24) "Australian Industry Group calls for 'emergency intervention' to keep Hazelwood open" available at: http://www.smh.com.au/federal-politics/political-news/australian-industry-group-calls-for-emergency-intervention-to-keep-hazelwood-open-20170323-gv4yzp.html accessed 20th July, 2017.
- Neil, C., Tykkyläinen, M. & Bradbury, J. eds. (1992) Coping with Closure: An International Comparison of Mine Town Experiences. London: Routledge.
- Newell, P. & Mulvaney, D. (2013) "The Political Economy of the 'Just Transition." Geographical Journal 179(2): 132–40.
- Noonan, W. (2017a, May 4) "New Govhub creates a jobs boost for the valley Media Release".
- Noonan, W. (2017b, July 7) Jobs, investment and a way forward for Gippsland Media Release.
- OCE (Office of the Chief Economist) (2016) Australian Energy Update 2016. Department of Industry, Innovation and Science, Australian Government, Canberra.
- Osborne, H. (2015, November 31) "COP21: Ban Ki-moon full speech at start of Paris climate change talks", International Business Times, available at: http://www.ibtimes.co.uk/cop21-ban-ki-moon-full-speech-start-paris-climate-change-talks-1531133 accessed 24th July, 2017.
- Parker, R. (2006) "Small Business and Entrepreneurship in the Knowledge Economy: A Comparison of Australia and Sweden." New Political Economy 11(2): 201–26.
- Pierson, P. (1993) "When Effect Becomes Cause: Policy Feedback and Policy Change." World Politics 45(4): 595–628.
- Plummer, F., Watson, E. & Charalambous, S. (2016, September 26) "Hazelwood closure speculation: The community responds", Latrobe Valley Express, available at:

- http://www.latrobevalleyexpress.com.au/story/4188710/hazelwood-closure-speculation-the-community-responds/ accessed 11th August, 2017.
- Priess, B. & Morton, A. (2016, October 31) "Daniel Andrews to lead Latrobe Valley taskforce as Hazelwood announcement looms", The Age, available at: http://www.theage.com.au/victoria/daniel-andrews-to-lead-latrobe-valley-taskforce-as-hazelwood-announcement-looms-20161030-gse4zs.html accessed 2nd August, 2017.
- Rabe, B.G. (2010) "The Aversion to Direct Cost Imposition: Selecting Climate Policy Tools in the United States." Governance 23(4): 583–608.
- Rainnie, A., 'Urbano, T., Barrett, R., Paulet, R. & Grobbelaar, M. (2004) "Industrial Relations in the Latrobe Valley: Myths and Realities", Labour & Industry: a journal of the social and economic relations of work, 15:2, 25-46.
- Regional Development Victoria (RDV) (2017) "Latrobe Valley Economic Development" available at: http://www.rdv.vic.gov.au/programs-and-grants/latrobe-valley-economic-development-program accessed 11th August, 2017.
- Remplan & Latrobe City Council (2017) "Latrobe City Community Profile", available at: http://communityprofile.com.au/latrobe accessed 26th July, 2017.
- REN 21. 2017. Renewables 2017: Global Status Report.
- Richardson, D. (2017) "Electricity Costs: Preliminary results showing how privatisation went seriously wrong", The Australia Institute, Canberra, available at:

  http://www.tai.org.au/content/electricity-prices-blowout-despite-promises-privatisation-report
- Robins, N. (2017) "Investing in a Just Transition." Green Economy Coalition. https://www.greeneconomycoalition.org/news-analysis/investing-in-a-just-transition.
- Rosemberg, A. (2010) "Building a Just Transition." International Journal of Labour Research 2(2): 125–62.
- Scoones, I., Leach, M. & Newell, P. eds. (2015) The Politics of Green Transformations. Oxford: Routledge.
- Simshauser, P. (2005) "The Gains From the Microeconomic Reform of the Power Generation Industry in East-Coast Australia." Economic Analysis and Policy 35(1–2): 23–43.
- Snell, D. & Schmitt, D. (2012) "'It's Not Easy Being Green': Electricity Corporations and the Transition to a Low-Carbon Economy." Competition & Change 16(1): 1–19.
- Snell, D. (2011) "Phasing Out Coal Power Generation in Australia: Policies, Corporations and Unions." Labour & Industry 22(1–2): 143–68.
- Stern, N. (2015a) "Economic Development, Climate and Values: Making Policy." Proceedings of the Royal Society B 282: 1–9.

- ———. (2015b) Why Are We Waiting? The Logic, Urgency, and Promise of Tackling Climate Change. London: The MIT Press.
- Stroud, D., Fairbrother, P., Evans, C. & Blake, J. (2014) "Skill development in the transition to a 'green economy': A 'varieties of capitalism' analysis", The Economic and Labour Relations Review, 25(1): 10-27.
- Swilling, M. & Annecke, E. (2012) Just Transitions: Explorations of Sustainability in an Unfair World. Claremont, South Africa: UCT Press.
- Swilling, M., Musango, J. & Wakeford, J. (2015) "Developmental States and Sustainability Transitions: Prospects of a Just Transition in South Africa." Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning 7200(November): 1–23.
- The Greens Party (2015) Renew Australia Powering the New Economy, available at: http://greens.org.au/renew accessed 24th July, 2017.
- Thelen, K. (1999) "Historical Institutionalism in Comparative Politics." Annual Review of Political Science 2: 369–404.
- Tomaney, J. & Somerville, M. (2010) "Climate Change and Regional Identity in the Latrobe Valley, Victoria" Australian Humanities Review, Vol. 49: 29-47.
- Turnheim, B. et al. (2015) "Evaluating Sustainability Transitions Pathways: Bridging Analytical Approaches to Address Governance Challenges." Global Environmental Change 35: 239–53.
- United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) (2016) "The Paris Agreement", available at: http://unfccc.int/paris\_agreement/items/9485.php accessed 26th July, 2017.
- Victorian Electoral Commission (2014) "Victorian Electoral Pendulum 2014". https://www.vec.vic.gov.au/Results/results-state-pendulum2014.html
- Victorian Government (2017, June 13) "New Energy Technology in Latrobe Valley", NETS team presentation at the New Energy Technologies Roundtable in the Latrobe Valley on 2nd June, 2017.
- Victorian Labor. (2014) Platform 2014. https://www.viclabor.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/Victorian-Labor-Platform-2014.pdf
- Voices of the Valley (2015) "Meeting-govt-policy-goals -How does this vision fit in with Government strategies... From The Renewable Energy Roadmap:- (submitted to Vic Gov 25 Sep 2015), available at: http://www.votv.org.au/meeting\_govt\_policy\_goals accessed 1st September, 2017.
- Voices of the Valley (VotV) (2016, October, 19) "Media release: Transition", available at: http://www.votv.org.au/transition accessed 20th July, 2017.
- Wadley, D. & Ballock, M. (1980) "Satisfaction and Positive Resettlement: Evidence From Yallourn, Latrobe Valley, Australia", Journal of the American Planning Association, 46:1, 64-75.

- Ward, J. & Power, M. (2015) Cleaning up Victoria's Power Sector: the full social cost of Hazelwood power station, Harvard Kennedy School of Government.
- Watson, E. (2016, June 20) "Win for renewable energy", Latrobe Valley Express, available at: http://www.latrobevalleyexpress.com.au/story/3978056/win-for-renewable-energy/accessed 11th August, 2017.
- Weller, S., Sheehan, P. & Tomaney, J. (2011) "The Regional Effects of Pricing Carbon Emissions: An Adjustment Strategy for the Latrobe Valley", Final Report to Regional Development Victoria, Centre for Strategic Economic Studies, Victoria University, November. Citations omitted.
- Weller, S. & Tierney, J. (2017) "Evidence in the Networked Governance of Regional Decarbonisation: A Critical Appraisal." Australian Journal of Public Administration: 1–14.
- Weller, S. (2012) "The Regional Dimensions of the 'Transition to a Low-Carbon Economy': The Case of Australia's Latrobe Valley." Regional Studies 46(9): 1261–72.
- Willox, I. (2017, March 24) "11th hour emergency intervention should not be ruled out", AiGroup, available at: https://www.aigroup.com.au/policy-and-research/mediacentre/releases/Hazelwood-11thour-24March/accessed 10th July, 2017.
- Wood, T. & Edis, T. (2011) New Protectionism under Carbon Pricing: Case Studies of LNG, Coal Mining and Steel Sectors. Melbourne, Australia.
- World Coal Association (2017) "What is coal?" available at: https://www.worldcoal.org/coal/what-coal accessed 26th July, 2017.
- World Wildlife Foundation (WWF) (2005) "Hazelwood tops international list of dirty power stations" available at: http://www.wwf.org.au/?2320/Hazelwood-tops-international-list-of-dirty-power-stations as cited in Ward & Power (2015).
- Wright, P. (2016, October 28) "Hazelwood power station owners have made 'no formal decision' to close plant, Josh Frydenberg says", ABC News, available at: http://www.abc.net.au/news/2016-10-28/no-formal-decision-taken-to-close-hazelwood-frydenberg/7973752 accessed 11th August, 2017.
- 350.org (2016, November 3) "Press release: Hazelwood closure highlights urgent need for national coal closure plan 350.org" available at: https://350.org.au/press-release/hazelwood-closure-highlights-urgent-need-for-national-coal-closure-plan-350-org/ accessed 26th July, 2017.